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Carver Bancorp, Inc. is the holding company 
of Carver Federal Savings Bank, a fcderally 
chartered savings bank. Carver was founded 
54 years ago by visionary community leaders 
to serve the financial services needs of 
African- and Caribbean-Americans in New 
York City. Today, Carver is the largest 
publicly traded African- and Caribbean- 
American run financial institution in the 
United States. 

Carver Federal Savings Bank is an urban 
community developnient bank dedicated to 
providing a full range of financial services to 
its customers. Carver is committed to 
meeting the credit needs of the coinmunities it 
serves, increasing profitability and enhancing 
stockholder value. 



I LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT & CEO I 

Dear Carver Stockholder: 

2005 was a year of intensive activity for all of us at Carver, as the Bank undertook a broad range of initiatives 
designed to lay the groundwork for disciplined growth of our franchise and enhanced long-term value creation. 

In certain key areas our efforts yielded solid results, as evidenced by our lending and retail departments, which 
generated an impressive operating performance in Fiscal 2005. Specifically, core deposits and lending grew 
substantially, while we expanded our delivery channels by 120% in 18 months and our product lines in both 
departments. Nevertheless, our investments in our franchise, together with a challenging interest rate 
environment and our attempt to grow our business through the acquisition of Independence Federal Savings Bank 
(“IFSB”), contributed to an overall financial performance for the year that was unsatisfactory. 

As we survey the progress we have made and the work that still remains, we are excited about Carver’s future and 
are confident that the steps we have taken this fiscal year will position us for significant further success over the 
long term. 

Fiscal 2005 and First Quarter Fiscal 2006 Review 

Profttability 
Carver reported $2.5 million in net income available to common stockholders, or $1.03 diluted earnings per 
share, compared with $4.6 million and $1.87, respectively, in Fiscal 2004. This financial performance 
reflects, in part, the unsuccessful IFSB transaction and one-time severance costs that accounted for 
approximately $2.4 million in expenses during Fiscal 2005. Return on average assets and return on average 
equity in fiscal year 2005 was 0.45% and 5.80%, compared with 0.93% and 11.40%, respectively, during 
fiscal year 2004. 

During the first three months of Fiscal 2006, net income available to common stockholders was $840,000 and 
diluted earnings per share was $0.33, compared with $1.0 million and $0.42, respectively, during Fiscal 2005 
first quarter. Employee compensation and benefits expense increased by approximately $523,000 compared 
with the same period last fiscal year, mostly as a result of staff additions related to the Company’s recent 
branch expansion. 

Value Creation for Stockholders 
For Fiscal 2005, stockholders’ equity increased $1.2 million, or 2.6%, to $45.8 million at March 31, 2005 
from $44.6 million at March 3 1,2004. 

For the first three months of Fiscal 2006, stockholders’ equity increased $1.3 million, or 2.8%, to $47.1 
million at June 30, 2005. The increase was primarily attributable to net income, capital contributions from 
treasury stock used to fund benefit plans, and mark-to-market of the Bank’s available-for-sale securities. 

In a sign of confidence in Carver’s long-term earnings outlook, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a 
$0.08 per share dividend for the quarter ended June 30, 2005. This increase represents a 14%. increase over 
the $0.07 per share dividend paid over the four quarters of fiscal 2005. The enhanced dividend continues the 
trend of increases begun in Fiscal 2004, when the Company moved to a $0.05 per share quarterly dividend 
compared to a prior practice of paying $0.05 per fiscal year, and then in Fiscal 2005 raised the quarterly 
dividend by 40% to $0.07 per quarter from $0.05 per quarter. 

Interest Rate Environment 
After falling to the lowest levels in 45 years during calendar year 2003, short-term interest rates started to 
climb, yet the yield curve flattened. At Carver, the impact of the current interest rate environment has been an 
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increase in the rates we pay on our borrowings and some deposits and an increase in our yield on earning 
assets. However, the rate of increase in the yield on earning assets has been slower than the increased cost of 
liabilities. As a result, the Company’s net interest margin decreased in Fiscal 2005 to 3.41% from 3.56% in 
Fiscal 2004. 

The net interest margin compression Carver experienced was somewhat offset by the Company’s successful 
balance sheet management efforts. In particular, the Company continues to emphasize growth of re-priceable 
assets including loans and securities, and remains focused on a disciplined approach to credit risk. At the 
same time, the Company’s retail efforts are focused on growing deposits generally, and seeking to increase 
lower-cost core deposits in particular. As a result, our net interest margin compared favorably with our peers 
in Fiscal 2005. 

During the first three months of Fiscal 2006 these trends continued, as the Company’s net interest margin fell 
to 3.17% at June 30,2005 from 3.41% at March 31, 2005. 

Fee Income 
Non-interest income in Fiscal 2005 decreased to $4.1 million from $5.3 million last year, largely resulting 
from the $1.5 million loss on IFSB stock recorded in fiscal second quarter and a decrease of $739,000 in loan 
prepayment fees as pre-payment activity slowed industry wide. However, the strength of our growth in 
deposits by 21%, including an increase in core deposits of 9%, led to a 67% increase in monthly debit card 
fees during this period. In addition, our delivery channel expansion helped contribute to an increase in ATM 
fees of 20%. 

In first quarter Fiscal 2006, non-interest income increased to $1.4 million from $1.1 million compared with 
the same period last year, Nearly $1 10,000 of that increase resulted from ATM and debit card fees as well as 
commissions earned through the sale of wealth management products launched during Fiscal 2005. 

Asset Quality 
The Company is experiencing a historically low ratio of non-performing assets to total loans receivable. For 
the third fiscal year in a row, the Company did not make additional provisions for loan losses in Fiscal 2005. 
Non-performing loans totaled $998,000, or 0.23% of total loans receivable at March 31, 2005, compared with 
$2.1 million, or 0.60% of total loans receivable at March 3 1,2004. The ratio of allowance to non-performing 
loans at March 31, 2005 was 410.7% compared with 194.3% at March 31, 2004. The ratio of allowance for 
loan losses to total loans receivable at March 3 1,2005 was 0.96% compared with 1.16% at March 3 1,2004. 

For first quarter Fiscal 2006, the Company again did not make additional provisions for loan loss reserves. 
At June 30,2005, non-performing loans totaled $1.6 million, or 0.37% of total loans receivable, resulting in a 
ratio of allowance to non-performing loans of 261.0%. 

Expanded Delivety Channels 
As we promised you last year, the Company continued its focus on organic growth by investing in additional 
delivery channels. We opened a full service branch in a Pathmark supermarket in Harlem along with two 
additional 24/7 ATM Centers, one in Harlem and the second in Bedford-Stuyvesant, The Pathmark location 
is heavily traveled as the anchor tenant of a new cooperative and retail complex adjacent to dense apartment 
dwellings and upscale brownstones. Usage at both 24/7 ATM Centers is off to a good start and our customers 
have been appreciative of the expanding convenience of our delivery channels. These investments are key 
elements driving the expansion in core deposits. 
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Expanded Product Offerings 
The Company expanded its product offerings with a mid-fiscal year kick-off rally to launch our wealth 
management products, and more recently the rollout of sub-prime and jumbo mortgages (to be sold in the 
secondary markets). Moreover, the Board of Directors recently approved an overdraft line of credit to be 
offered to qualified customers. We also recently contracted with a third party vendor to offer lock box 
services in order to improve our competitiveness in seeking deposits from local landlords. 

To date, wealth management product sales have exceeded our expectations. We have gotten off to a good 
start with our new sub-prime and jumbo mortgage products as we begin to advertise these products as well as 
get the word out to local brokers. We have high hopes for this new cadre of products that we believe will help 
Carver attract and retain more customers and generate additional fee income. 

Efficiency Ratio 
In Fiscal 2005, the Company’s efficiency ratio increased to 81.77% from 67.86% last year. During the first 
three months of Fiscal 2006, the Company’s efficiency ratio declined to 78.62%. While each of these ratios 
significantly exceed our peers, they reflect the dramatic steps we are taking to grow our franchise as part of a 
broader objective of accelerating our pace along the path to higher earnings. Our focus on this goal stems 
from our belief that standing still is equivalent to falling behind in the Company’s highly competitive inner 
city markets. 

Focus on the Year Ahead 

There’s a saying: “You can save your way to solvency, but you’ve got to grow your way to prosperity.” That 
being said, we have begun a rigorous analysis of our cost structure to determine how we can improve our 
efficiency ratio without harming our growth objectives. For example, as I promised last year, the Company is 
aggressively pursuing outsourcing of certain operations where cost and productivity improvements can be 
achieved while preserving the quality of functional performance. This month, we began outsourcing our core 
processing and ATM technology platforms, where productivity improvements, accounting controls upgrades, 
business scalability and enhanced customer service can be achieved. On the revenue side of the efficiency ratio, 
we recognize that product development can be a costly undertaking, notwithstanding the desired end result of 
higher future revenue generation. Thus, the Company is evaluating opportunities to take advantage of third party 
providers to launch new products economically and to accelerate rollout, as we have done with our wealth 
management and sub-prime and jumbo mortgage products. 

In addition, we will focus on the following priorities in the year ahead: 

Capitalize an Franchise Investments 
The entire management team is focused on building core deposits and our lending business, particularly in our 
three new branches. With the additional products we have launched since mid-Fiscal 2005, we are equipped 
with additional tools to attract new business and achieve this goal. 

Invest in People 
To maximize the returns on our franchise investments, our management team has identified professional 
development and education programs that will boost our performance as a team. In addition to intensive sales 
training for our customer-facing staff, we have also put incentives in place to foster higher cross sales 
between the retail and lending departments. While the benefits of these investments will not materialize 
overnight, over the long term increased sales should be accompanied by increased job satisfaction and higher 
retention levels, thereby positioning Carver to reap savings from costs that might otherwise be expended for 
recruiting and new hire training. 
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Market our Brand and New Products Effectively 
Our marketing efforts have been increasing in effectiveness as we have targeted specific products and 
services, including the “Relationship” and “Free Checking” accounts, as well as our new mortgage products. 
Our marketing team will continue to launch cost effective, grass roots marketing campaigns together with 
occasional broader distribution campaigns. We are particularly gratified to hear kind words from our existing 
customers during our periodic large-scale marketing efforts. These communications tell us that Carver is not 
just reaching out to new customers, but also enhancing our connection with existing customers. These results 
are noteworthy -- in no small part because in our competitive industry, retaining customers is critically 
important to preserving profitability. 

Maintain Asset Quality 
Even as we focus on increasing revenues and profits, we remain committed to the Company’s disciplined 
approach to asset quality. The Company will strictly preserve its loan underwriting and purchase criteria. 
And, although the Company will evaluate investment security asset classes beyond government backed 
securities in the search for attractive yields, we will maintain our conservatism as relates to the risk-reward 
profile for an institution of our size and characteristics. 

As we move forward at this exciting time, it is important to acknowledge the contributions of all who have helped 
to build Carver over the years: 

On behalf of the entire Carver team, we express our gratitude to Frederick 0. Terrell for his wisdom and business 
judgment. Fred, who resigned as Carver’s Chairman on February 2, 2005, helped to steer Carver through very 
challenging times with commitment and integrity. 

We have a very prestigious and accomplished Board of Directors, each of whom is highly involved and dedicated 
to helping the Company move forward, We appreciate their sage advice and thank them for their continued trust 
in the Carver team to manage the operations on behalf of all our stockholders. 

In addition, our customers deserve thanks for entrusting us with their precious assets. We look forward to 
providing continuously improving products and services in the future. Our employees have worked tirelessly to 
take the Company to levels not yet seen in Carver’s history, and I thank them as well for their efforts. 

Last but not least, I want to express appreciation to you, the Company’s stockholders, for your continued support. 
I encourage you all to stay tuned as we enter a new fiscal year and continue our work to build Carver to its fullest 
potential. 

Sincerely, 

U(. w e  
Deborah C. Wright 
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer 
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FINANCIAL HIGH LIGHTS 

The following tables set forth ccrtain information concerning the consolidatcd financial condition, earnings 
and other data regarding Carver Bancorp, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicatcd. Thc financial 
infomation should be read in conjunction with the consoldiated financial statements and notes thercto 
included elsewlzcre herein. 

Three Months Ending 
June 30, At or fnr the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 

200s 20115 2004 2003 2002 
(Dullars in thousands) 

Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Total loans 
Sccurilies 
Cash and cash cquivaleiits 
Deposits 
Horrowed funds 
Stockholders' cyuity 
Number of deposit accounts 
Numbcr of offices 

.... .. r -  

F 

$291 R18 

I 2UU2 

I' 2u02 

6 18,945 
419,872 
144,006 
14,958 

454,88 1 
107,307 
47,059 
40,733 

8 

$ 626,371 
426,084 
149,335 
20,420 

453,454 
I 15,209 
45,801 
40,199 

8 

%: 538,830 
356,025 
139,877 
22,774 

373,665 
104,282 
44,645 
38,578 

6 

9; 509,845 
296,806 
165,585 
23,160 

341,164 
108,996 
41,073 
41,220 

5 

$ 450,306 
293,83X 
105,464 
34,851 

324,954 
75.65 1 
36,742 
41,200 

5 

1 1  - 

Total De~iniits 
I Total Loans l l  
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FlNANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.) 

Three Munths Ending 

Selectcd Operating Ilatil: 
Interest income 
Interest expensc 
Net interest incomc 
Provision for Ivan losses 
Net intcrcsl income after provision for loan losses 
Non-ititcrcst income 
Non-inlcrcst expenses 
Income b c h  income taxes 
Income tax 

Net income 
Dilutcd earnings per comiiioii share 

I 
NET INCOME 

ll.U33 

June 30, At or for lhc Fiacd Year Ended March 31, 

2005 2005 2004 2003 2002 

(Dollurs in thnuaands. encepi per share datu) 

9,758 8,700 8,983 12,047 
18,788 17.534 18,407 16,348 

$ 7,752 $ 28,546 $ 26.234 $ 27,390 $ 28,395 
3,052 
4,700 

900 
4,700 18,788 17.534 18,407 15,448 
1,399 4,075 5,278 3,161 4,485 
4,795 18,696 15.480 14.704 14,339 
1,104 4,167 7.332 6,864 5,594 

464 1,518 2,493 3,033 881 
$ 840 $ 2,649 $ 4,839 $ 3,831 - -  $ 4.713 
$ 0.33 $ 1-03 $ 1.87 $ 1.52 $ 1.89 - - - 

. I I 

sx4n 

11 Qrr 2005 1st Qtr 211116 

Selertcd Statistirat Ilata: 
Ketum on average asscts ( 1  j(9) 
Keturn on average cquily (2)(9) 
Nct interest margin (3) 
Avcrage interest rate sprcad (4) 
FJicicncy ratio (5) 
Operating expense to avcragc assets (6)(9) 
Equity to total assets at cnd of period 
Average equity 10 avcrage assets 
Dividend payorrl r:itiu (7) 

Assrt Quality Halius: 
Non-performing asscts to total assets (8) 
Non-perfoming assets to total loans receivable (8) 
Allowance for loan losses to total loans rccciv;ible 
Allowance for luan losses to non-perforrriing assets (8) 
Net loan chargc-ul'rs (recoveries) to avcriigc loiiiis outstanding (9) 

EARNINGS PER SH 
~~ 

!E ~ 

1 2002 Zl l l l l  2004 2005 Ivtytn 2005 IslQlr2006 1 
- .~ .- 

'l'hrec Monlhr Ending 
June 30, At or for the Fircal Year Ended March 31. 

zoos 21111s 2004 2003 2002 

0.53 '! 
7.21 
3.17 
2.99 

78.62 
3.05 
7.60 

20.83 
7.40 

4 0.45 1% 

5.x0 
3.41 
3.26 

81.77 
3.21 
7.3 1 
7.84 

24.64 

0.93 76 
1 1  40 
3.56 

67 86 
2.97 
8.29 
8.13 
9.86 

3 40 

0.83 % 
9.77 
4.26 

68. I 8 
3.18 
8.06 
8.48 
3.19 

4.08 

1.1 I %l 

13.78 
4.09 
3.89 

77.89 
3.37 
8-16 
8.03 
2.55 

0.25 % 0.16 % 0.39 % 0.36 '% 0.63 % 
0.37 0.23 0.60 0.61 0.96 
0.97 0.96 1.16 1.40 1.41 

26 I .0 410.70 194.34 230.74 146.23 
0.02 0.01 0.01 (0.01) 0.10 

( I )  Ncl incuinc divided by average luhl ;assets. 
(2)  Net income dividd hy ;ivcr;ige total equity. 
(3) Net iriltrcst iiicome divided by avcrdpc interest-earning a 
(4)  The difference between rhc wcighted average yicld 1111 intcrest-earning asscis and the weighted average cost (ifinterest-bearing liabilities. 
( 5 )  Operating expenses dividctl by sum of net inlcrcsL incunie plus noti-inlcrcst income. 
(6) Non-interest cxpcnsc Icss real estate owncd expenses, divided by avcr;igc total assets. 
(7) Dividends paid 11) coinnion stocktioldcrs as ;I percentage of ricl income wallable to cotnmon stockholders. 
(8) Niin pcrfonnmg assets cotlslsl (if nun-;scmal loans, luanh wmiing 90 days or 11111rc psist due aild real eslaic owned. 
(9 )  'l'hrcc month period ending June 30, 2005 amiualircd. 



FORWARD-LOOKTNG STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form IO-K contains certain “forward looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Sccurities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 which may bc identified by the use of such words as “may,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” 
“should,” “plan,” “estimate,” “predict,” “continue,” and “potential” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. 
Examples of forward-looking statements include, but arc not limited to, estimates with respect to our financial condition, results of 
operations and husincss that are subject to various factors which could cause actual results to differ matcrially from these estimates. 
These factors include, but are not limited to: 

0 

0 

0 

0 

the Company’s success in implementing its new business initiatives, including expanding its product line, adding ncw 
branches and ATM centers and successfully re-branding its image; 

increases in competitive pressure among financial institutions or non-financial institutions; 

legislative or regulatory changes which may adversely affect the Company’s business; 

technological changes which may be more difficult or expensive than wc anticipate; 

changes in interest rates which may reduce net interest margins and net intcrest income; 

changes in deposit flows, loan demand or real estate values which may adversely affcct the Company’s business; 

changes in accounting principles, policies or guidelines which may cause the Company’s condition to bc perceived 
di fferentl y; 

litigation or other matters before rcgiilatory agencies, whether currently existing or commcncing in the future, which 
may delay the occurrence or non-occurrence of events longer than anticipated; 

the ability of the Company to originate and purchase loans with attractive terms and acceptable credit quality; 

the ability of the Coinprlny to realize cost efficiencies; and 

general economic conditions, either nationally or locally in some or all areas in which the Company does business, or 
conditions in the securitics markets or the banking industry which could affect liquidity in the capital markets, the 
volume of loan origination, deposit flows, real estate values, the levels of non-interest income and the amount of loan 
losscs. 

Any or all of our rorward-looking statements in this Annual Report and in any other public stiatcments we make may turn out to be 
wrong. They can he affected by inaccuratc assumptions we might milke or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. 
Consequently, no fonvard-looking statenicnt can be guaranteed. We do not intcnd to update any of the forward-looking statements 
after the date of this prospectus or to conform these stateincnts to actual events. 

GENERAL TlESCRIPTlON 01‘ BUSINESS 

Carver Bancorp, lnc. 

Carver Bancorp, Tnc., a Delaware corporation (on a stand-alone basis, the “Holding Company” or “Registrant”), is the 
holding company for Carver Federal Savings Bank, a federally chartered savings bank, and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Bank” 
or “Carver Federal”), Carver Statutory Trust I (the “Trust”) and Alhambra Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Alhambra”). Thc 
Trust, which was formcd in September 2003, exists for the sole purpose of issuing trust preferred dcbt securities and investing the 
proceeds 111 an equivalent amount of subordinatcd debentures of the Holding Company. The Holding Company fonned Alhambra to 
hold the Holding Company’s investment in a commercial office building that was subsequently sold in March 2000. Alhambra is 
currently inactive. Collectively, the Holding Company, the Bank and the Holding Company’s other direct and indirect subsidiaries 
arc referred to herein as the “Company” or “Carver.” 

On October 24, 1994, Carvcr Federal convcited from mutual to stock form and issued 2,3 14,275 shares of its common stock 
at a price of $10 per sharc. On October 17, 1994, the Rank completed its reorganization into a holding company structure (the 
“Reorganization”) and becainc a wholly owncd subsidiary of the Holding Company. Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of 
Reorganiiation, dated May 21, 1996, each share of the Bank’s outstanding common stock was exchanged for one sharc of common 
stock of the Ilolding Company. On January 1 1,2000, thc Holding Company sold, pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agrcement, dated 
January 1 I ,  2000, in a private placement 40,000 shares of Series A Coiivcrtible Prcferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) to 
Morgan Stanlcy & Co. Incorporated (“MSDW’) and 60,000 Shares of Series B C!onvertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred 
Stock”) to Provcnder Opportunities Fund L.P. (“Provender”). On June 1 ,  2004, Provender sold all 60,000 of i t s  Series U Preferred 
Stock to Keefe Rruyette & Woods, lnc ( “ W W ” ) ,  On Octobcr 15, 2004, both MSDW and KRW clectetl to convert their Preferred 
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Shares into shares of the Holding Company’s common stock, thus an additional 208,333 shares of comnion stock were issued to these 
parties. 

Thc Holding Company conducts business as a unitary savings and loan holding company, and the principal business of the 
Holding Company consists of the operation of its wholly owned subsidiary, the Bank. Thc Holding Company’s exccutive officcs are 
located at the home office of the Bank at 75 West 125th Street, Ncw York, New York 10027. The Holding Compiiny’s telephone 
number is (7 18) 230-2900, 

Carver Federal Savings Bank 

Carver Fcderal was chartered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal Savings and Loan Association, a 
federally chartered mutual savings and loan association, at which time it obtained federal deposit insurance and became a member of 
the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York (the “FHLB-NY”). Carver Federal converted to a federal savings bank in 1986 and 
changed its name at that time to Carver Federal Savings Bank. 

Carvcr Federal was founded as an African-American operated institution to provide residents of under-served conlmunities 
with the ability to invest their savings and obtain crcdit. Carver Federal’s principal busincss consists of attracting deposit accounts 
through its eight branch officcs and investing those funds in mortgage loans and other investments permitted to federal savings banks. 
Based on asset size a s  of March 3 I ,  2005, Carver Fedcral is the largest African-American operated financial institution in the United 
States. 

On March 8, 1995, Carver Federal formed CFSB Realty Corp. as a wholly owned subsidiary to hold real cstate acyuircd 
through foreclosure pending eventual disposition. At March 31, 2005, this subsidiary had $219,000 in total capital and a net 
operating loss of approximately $1,000. At March 3 1,  2005 there was no foreclosed real estate, however as a result or  a property tax 
redcmption, the Bank took fce ownership of a vacant tract of land in Rayshore, NY. Scc Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Carver Federal also owns C‘FSB Credit Corp., an inactive subsidiary originally formed to undertake the Bank’s credit 
card issuances. During the fourth quarter o f  thc fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”), Carver Fcderal formcd Carver 
Assct Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary which qualifies as a real cstate investment trust (“REIT”) pursuant to the Internal 
Revcnue Code of 1986, as mcnded. This subsidiary may, among other things, he utilizcd by Carver Federal to raise capital in the 
future. As ofMarch 3 1 ,  200.5 Carver Asset Corporation owned mortgage loans valued at approximately $131 million. 

Carver Fedcral’s current operating strategy consists primarily of (1) the origination and purchase of onc- to four-family 
residential, commercial, construction and multifamily real estate loans in its primary market area; ( 2 )  investing funds not utilizcd for 
loan originations or purchases in the purchasc of United States government agcncy securitics and mortgage-backed securities; (3) 
expanding its branch network by opening de novo branches in fiscal 2005 and stand-alone ATM centers in high-traffic locations ; (4) 
generating fee income by attracting and retaining core deposit accounts, expansion of its ATM network and providing of wealth 
management products; and ( 5 )  continuing to monitor and control its expenses by efficiently utili7ing pcrsonnel, branch facilitics and 
alternativc delivery channels (telephone banking, online banking, and ATMs) to scrvice its customers. The business is not operated in 
such a way that would require segment reporting. 

Carver Federal’s primary market area for deposits consists of the areas served by its eight branches. Carvcr Federal 
considers its primary lending market to include Bronx, Kings, New York, Queens and Richtnond counties, together comprising New 
York City, and lower Westchester County, New York. See “ltcm 2-Propcrties.” 

Although Carver Federal’s branches are located in areas that were historiciilly underservcd by other financial institutions, 
Carver Fcderal is facing increasing cornpetition For deposits and residential mortgage lending in its iminediatc market areas. 
Management believes that this competition has become more intense as a result of an increased examination emphasis by federal 
banking regulators on financial institutions’ fulfillment o f  thcir responsibilities under the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”) and 
the improving economic conditions in its market area. The Bank’s cornpetition for loans comes principally from mortgage banking 
companies, commercial hanks, savings banks and savings imd loan associations. The Bank’s most direct competition for deposits 
comes from commercial banks, savings banks, savings and loan associations and credit unions. Competition for deposits also comes 
from money market niutual funds and othcr corporate and government securities funds as well as from other financial intermediaries 
such as brokerage firms and insurance companies. Many of Carver Federal’s competitors have substantially greater resources than 
Carver Fcderal and offer a wider array of financial scrvices and products than Carver Federal. At times, thcse larger financial 
instittitions may offer below market interest rdtcs on mortgage loans and above market interest rates for deposits. These pricing 
concessions combined with competitors’ larger prcscnce in the New York market add to the challenges Carver Federal faces in 
expanding its current market share and growing its near term profitability. The Rank believes that it can compete with these 
institutions by offering a cornpeiitivc range of products and services as well as through pcrsonaliaed scrvice and community 
involvement. 

Carver will continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities as part of its strategic objective for long term growth and may 
acquire directly or indirectly through Carver Fedcral. 

As of March 31, 2005, Carver Federal had 135 full-time equivalent employees, of whom 47 arc officers and 88 are non- 
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officcrs, none of whom was represented by a collcctive bargaining agreement. The Bank considers its employee relations to be 
satisfactory. 

Available Information 

The Company makes available on or through its internet wcbsite, http://www.carverbank.com, its Annual Reports on Form 
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form IO-Q. Current Reports 011 Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Such reports are free of charge and are available as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”). The public may read and copy any materials the Company tiles with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Refcrence Room at 450 
Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC, 20549. Information may be obtained on the operation o f  the Public Reference Room by calling 
the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statcments and other 
information regarding issuers that file electronically with thc SEC, including the Company, at http://www.scc.gov. 

Tn addition, on or before September 13, 2005, the date of our annual meeting of stockholders, we will post on our wcbsite 
certain other basic corporate documents, including our Corporate Governance Principles, Code of Ethics, Code of Ethics for Senior 
Financial Officers and the charters of our Finance and Audit Committee, Compensation Comniittee and Nominating/Corporate 
Governance Committee. Printed copies of these documents are also available free of charge to any stockholder who requests them. 
Stockliolders seeking additional information should contact thc Corporate Secretary’s office by mail at 75 West 125th Street, New 
York, NY 10027 or by e-mail at corporatesecretary@carverbank.com. 

Assct Quality 

Generul. One of the Bank’s key operating objectives continues to he to maintain a high level of assct quality. Through a 
variety of strategies, including, but not limited to, monitoring loan delinquencies and borrower workout arrangeincnts, the Bank has 
been proactive in addressing problem and non-performing assets which, in turn, has helped to build the strength of the Bank’s 
financial condition. Such strategies, as well as the Bank’s coiiccntration on one- to four-family and commercial mortgage lending 
(which includes multifamily and non-residential real estate loans), the maintenance of sound credit standards for new loan 
originations and a strong real estate market, have resulted in the Bank maintaining a low level of non-performing assets. 

The underlying credit quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio is dependent primarily on each borrower’s ability to continue to 
make required loan payments and, in the cvcnt a borrower is unable to continue to do so, the value of thc collatcral should he 
adcquate to secure thc loan. A borrower’s ability to pay typically is dependent primarily on cmployincnt and other sources of income, 
which, in turn, is impacted by general economic conditions, although other factors, such as unanticipated expenditures or changes in 
the financial markets, may also impact the borrower’s ability to pay. Collateral values, particularly real estate values. are also 
impacted by a variety of factors, including general economic conditions, demographics, maintenance and collection or rorcclosure 
delays. 

Non-perfbmiing Assets. When a borrower fails to make a payment on a mortgage loan, immediate steps are taken by Carver 
Federal and it’s sub-servicers to have the delinquency curcd and the loan restored to current status. With respect to mortgage loans, 
once thc payment grace period has expired ( in  most instanccs 15 days after the due date), a late notice is mailed to the borrower 
within two busiiicss days and a late charge is imposed if applicable. I f  payment is not promptly received, the borrower is contacted by 
telephone and efforts are made to formulate an affhiativc plan to cure thc delinquency. Additional calls are made by the 20th and 
25th day of the delinquency. If ii mortgage loan bccomes 30 days delinquent, a letter is mailed to the borrower requesting payment by 
a specified datc. If a mortgage loan becomes 60 days delinquent, Carver Federal seeks to make personal contact with the borrower 
and also has the property inspected. Tf a mortgage becomes 90 days delinquent, a letter is sent to the borrower demanding payment by 
a certain date and indicating that a foreclosure suit will he filed if the deadline is not met. If paymcnt is still not madc, the Bank may 
pursue foreclosure or other appropriate action. 

When a borrower fiiils to iiyake a payment on a consumer loan, steps are taken by Carver Federal’s loan servicing 
department to have the delinquency cured and the loan restored to current status. Once the paynicnt gracc period has expired ( I  5 days 
after the due date), a late notice is mailed to the borrower immediately and a late charge is imposed if applicable. If payment is not 
promptly received, the borrower i s  contacted by telcphone, and efforts are inade to formulate an affirniative plan to curc the 
delinquency. If a consumer loan becomes 30 days delinquent, it letter is mailed to the borrower requesting paynient by a specified 
datc. lf the loan becomes 60 days delinquent, the account is given to an independent collection agency to follow up with the 
collection of the account. Tf the loan becomes 90 day5 delinquent, a final warning letter is scnt to the borrower and any co-borrower. 
If the loan reiliains delinquent, it is reviewed for charge-off. The Rank’s collection efforts generally continue after the loaii is charged 
Off .  
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The following tablc sets forth information with rcspcct to Carver Fcdcral’s non-pcrforming asscts at the dates indicated. 

At llZarch 31. 

Loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis (1): 
Real estate: 
One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-res ident ial 
Construction 

Chnsumer and business 
Total non-accrual loans 

Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days o r  more 

Total ofnon-accrual and accruing 90-day past due loans 

Other non-performing assets (2): 
Real estate: 
One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-rcs iden tial 

Cons uiner and business 
Total other non-performing assets 
Total non-performing assets (3) 

Non-performing loans to total loans 
Non-performing assets to total assets 

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 149 $ 558 $ 1,113 $ 756 $ 947 
167 1,532 253 978 
665 639 1,154 565 

23 23 23 23 
17 10 27 37 6 

998 2,123 1,802 2,823 2,5 19 

$ 99X $ 2,123 $ 1,802 $ 2,823 $ 2,519 

27 
449 

476 
$ 998 $ 2,123 $ 1,802 $ 2,823 $ 2,995 

0.23% 0,60% 0.61% 0.96% 1.04% 
0.16% 0.39% 0.36% 0.63% 0.71% 

(1) Non-accrual status denotes any loan where the delinquency exceeds YO days past duc and in the opinion of managcincnt thc collection of additional 
interest is doubtful. Payments rcccivcd on a non-accrual 10311 arc cithcr applicd to the outstanding principal balance or recorded as interest income, 
depending on assessment of the ability lo collect on the loan. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, gross interest income of $83,000 would 
have been recorded on non-accrual loans had they been current throughout the year. 

(2) Othcr non-pcrforming asscts rcprcscnt properly acquired by the Bank in seltlemenl of‘ loans (i-e., through foreclosure or repossession or a s  an in- 
substancc forcclosurc). Thcse assets are recorded ai the lower of their Ihir value or the unpaid principal balance plus unpaid accrued interest o f  the 
rchtcd loans. 

(3) Total non-pcrfonning assets consist ol’non-accrual loans, accruing loans 90 days or more past due and property acquired in settlement of loans. 

At March 3 1, 2005, total non-pcrforming assets decreased by $ 1 .  I million, or S3.0%, to $998,000 compared to $2.1 million 
at March 31, 2004. All lion-performing assets at March 31, 2005 and 2004 rclatc to loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis. The 
decrease primarily reflects a decline in non-accruing multifunily and one- to four-family real cstiitc loans partially offset by an 
increase in non-accruing non-residential real cstatc 1o;ins. 

There were no accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or inore at March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004, reflecting the 
continued practice adopted by the Bank during the fiscal year ended March 3 1, 2000 to either write off or place on non-accrual status 
all loans contractually past clue 90 days or morc. 

Asset C‘lossi/icalinn ond A1lowoncc.s jiir Lossw. Federal regulations and the Bank’s policies require thc classification of 
asscts on the basis of quality on a quarterly basis, An asset i s  classitled as “substandard” if i t  is determined to be inadoquatoly 
protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or the current value ofthe collateral pledged, if any. An asset is 
classitied as “doubthl” if full collection is highly questionablc or improbablc. An assct is classificd as “loss” if it is considered un- 
collectible, even if a partial recovery could be cxpcctcd in thc future. The regulations also provide for a “special mention” 
designation, described as assets that do not currently cxposc ii savings institution to a sufficient degrce of risk to warrant classitication 
but do possess credit deficiencies or potential weaknesses deserving manitgcnicnt’s closc attcntion. hsscts classified as substandard 
or doubtful rcquirc a savings institution to establish general allowances for loan losses. If an asset or portion thereof is classificd a s  a 
loss, a savings institution must cithcr cstablish specific allowances for loan losses in the amount of the portion of the asset classified 
loss or charge off such amount. Federal examiners may disagree with ii savings institution’s classifications. If a savings institution 
docs not agrcc with an examiner’s classitication o f  an asset, it may appeal this delemiination to the OTS Regional Director. 
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At March 3 I ,  2005, Carver Fedcral had $ 1  .O million of loans classified as substandard which represented 0.2% of the Bank’s 
total assets. There were no loans classified as doubtful or loss at March 3 I ,  2005. 

The OTS, in conjunction with the other federal banking agencies, has adopted an interagency policy statement on the 
allowance for loan losses and lease losses. The policy statement provides guidance for financial institutions on both thc 
responsibilities of management for the assessment and establishment of adequate allowances and guidance for banking agency 
examiners to use in determining the adequacy of general valuation guidelines. Generally, thc policy statement recommends that 
institutions have effective systems and controls to identify, monitor and address asset quality problems, that management analyze all 
significant factors that affect the ability to collect the portfolio in a reasonablc manner and that management establish acceptable 
allowance evaluation processes that meet the objectives set forth in the policy statement. Although managcinent believes that 
adequate specific and general loan loss allowances have been established, actual losscs are dependent upon future events and, as such, 
further additions to thc level of specific and general loan loss allowances may become necessary. Federal examincrs may disagree 
with the savings institution as to the appropriate level of the institution’s allowance for loan losses. While management bclieves 
Carver Federal has established its existing loss allowances in accordancc with generally accepted accounting principles, there can be 
no assurance that regulators, in rcviewing Carver Federal’s assets, will not require Carver Federal to incrcase its loss allowance, 
thereby negatively affecting Carvcr Federal’s reported financial condition and results of operations. 

Carver Federal’s methodology For establishing the allowance for loan losses takes into consideration probable losses that 
have been identified in connection with specific loans as well as losses that have not been identified but can be expected to occur. 
Further, management reviews the ratio of allowances to total loans (including projected growth) and recommends adjustments to the 
level of allowances accordingly. The Internal Asset Review Comrnittcc conducts quarterly reviews of the Bank’s loans and evaluates 
the need to establish general and specific allowances on the basis of this review. In addition, management actively monitors Carver 
Federal’s asset quality and charges off loans and propcrties acquired in settlement of loans against the allowanccs for losses on loans 
and such properties when appropriate and provides specific loss reserves whcn necessary. Although management believes it uses the 
best information available to make determinations with rcspect to the allowances for losses, future adjustments may be necessary if 
economic conditions differ substantially from the economic conditions in the assumptions used in making the initial determinations. 

Thc Internal Asset Rcview Committee reviews Carver Federal’s assets on a quarterly basis to dctermine whether any assets 
require classification or re-classification. The Bank has a centralized loan servicing structure that rclies upon outside servicers, each 
of which generatcs a monthly report of delinquent loans. The Board has designated the Internal Asset Review Conimittec to perform 
quarterly reviews of the Bank’s asset quality, and their report is submitted to the Board for review. The Asset Liability and Interest 
Rate Risk Committee of the Board establishes policy relating to internal classification of loans and also provides input to the lnternal 
Asset Review Committcc in its review of classificd assets. In originating loans, Carver Federal recognizes that credit losscs will 
occur and that the risk of loss will vary with, among other things, the type of loan being made, thc creditworthiness of the borrower 
over the term of the loan, gcneral economic conditions and, in the case of a secured loan, thc quality of the security for thc loan. It is 
management’s policy to maintain a general allowance For loan losses bascd on, among other things, regular reviews of dclinquencics 
and loan portfolio quality, character and size, the Bank’s and the industry’s historical and projected loss experience and current and 
forecasted economic conditions. In addition, considerable uncertainty exists as to the future improvement or deterioration of the real 
estate markets in various states, or of their ultimate impact on Carver Federal as a result of its purchased loans in such states. See “- 
Lending Activities-Loan Purchases and Originations.” Carver Federal increases its allowance for loan losses by charging provisions 
for possible losses against thc Bank’s income. Generid allowances are established by the Board on at least a quarterly basis based on 
an assessment of risk in the Bank’s loans, taking into consideration the composition and quality of the portfolio, dclinquency trends, 
current charge-off and loss experience, the state of the real cstate market and economic conditions generally. Specific allowances are 
providcd for individual loans, or portions of loans, when ultimate collection is considered improbable by inanageincnt based on the 
current payment status of the loan and the fair value or net realizable value of the security for the loan. 

At the date o f  foreclosure or other repossession or at the datc the Rank determines a property is an impaired property, the 
Bank transfer4 the property to real estate acquired in settlement of loans at the lowcr of cost or fair value. less estimated selling costs. 
Fair valuc is defined as the amount in cash or cash-equivalent value of other consideration that a real estate parcel would yield in a 
current sale between :i willing buyer and a willing seller. Any amount of cost in excess of fair value is charged-off against the 
allowance for loan losses. Carver Fedcral records an iillowaiicc for estimated selling costs of the property immediatcly after 
foreclosure. Subsequent to acquisition, management periodically evaluates the propcrty and an allowance is established if the 
estimated fair value of the property, less estimated costs to sell, declincs. If, upon ultimate disposition o f  thc property, net sales 
proceeds exceed the nct carrying value ofthe property, a gain on sale ofreal estate is recorded. At March 31,  2005, the Bank had no 
foreclosed real estate, however as a result of a property tax redemption, thc Bank took fee ownership of a vacant tract of land in 
Bayshore, NY. See Note 1 of Notcs to Consolidated Financial Staterncnts. 

The following table sets forth an analysis of C‘arvcr Federal’s allowance for loan losses for the pcriods indicated. 

1 1  



Year Endcd March 31. 
200s 2004 2003 2002 2001 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Balance at bcginning of period 
Loans charged-off: 
Real listate: 

One- to four-family 
Non-rcsidential 

Consuiiier and business 
Total Clhargc-offs 

Recoveries: 
One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-residential 
C'onsumcr iind business 

Total Kccovcries 

Provision for lossec 
Net loans charged-off (rccovered) 

Balance at end ol'pcriod 

$ 4,125 $ 4,158 $ 4,128 $ 3,551 $ 2.935 

8 h 2 252 
5 5  194 

65 264 226 500 93 1 
73 325 228 500 1,377 

in7 

1 0 

3 

45 I75 258 I74 200 
45 292 258 I77 200 
28 33 (30) 323 1,177 

900 1,793 
$ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 $ 4,128 $ 3,5Sl 

Ratio or net charge-offs to loans outstanding 0.0 1 Y'n 0.01% -n.oi 0.1 1 '?'n 0.42% 

Ratio o f  allowance to non-performing assets ( I ) 4 1 1 5 2 %  194.30% 230.74% 1 46.2 3 Y'o 11 8.56% 
Ratio ofallowancc to total loans 0.9h% 1.16% I .40% 1.41% 1.24% 

( 1 ) Non-pcrforrning assets consist of noti-accrual lo;ms, ;iccniing loans YO days 01- inore past duc and property acquired in scttlcrricril of loans 

I h e  following table allocates the allowance lor loan losses by asset category at the dates indicalcd. The allocation or the 
allowaiice lo each category is not necessarily indicative offuturc losses and does not restrict the use ofthe allowancc to absorb losses 
in any category. 

At March 31, 

2U05 2004 2003 2002 2uu1 
O/o of Loans o/o of Loans O/o of Loans '% of Loans O/o of Loans 

in Each in Each in Each in Each in Each 
Catcgory cacgory category Category Ctltcgury 

to Total to Total to Tutal to TnW to Total 

Amount Gross Loanr Amount Gross Loan5 Amount Gross Loans Amount Gross Loans Amount Gross Loans 
(Dollars in thousands) 

I"@ms: 
Real Estate 
One- to four-family 
Multi f:,unily 
Noli-residential 
Constnicli on 

C'onsumcr and business 
Unallocaied 

'Iota1 Allowance for loan losscs 

%: 52x 36.68% %: 355 27.80% %: 298 24.20% %: 42Y 41.84% %: 1,198 54.94% 

898 23.99% 1,240 33.88% 656 44.45% 1,468 40.39% 74s 29.13% 

212 1 1.44% I58 7.71% I70 3.89% 76 3.32% 290 2.03% 

554 0.40% 4x7 1.69% 344 0.72% 377 0.79% Y 62 1.32% 
776 N/A 1.032 N/A 123 NiA 1.049 NIA NIA 

1,129 21.49% 853 28.92% 1,967 26.14Y0 729 13.66% 353 12.5X'?'n 

R 4,097 ~OOOO'YO $ 4,125 1OO.OOu/o $ 4,158 100.OO'Yo %: 4,128 100.00'?' R 3.551 lUO.UO% 

12 

.. . 



MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUTTY, RELATED ST0CKHC)LT)ER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURTTIES. 

Unlike the Rank, the Holding Conipany is not subject to OTS regulatory restrictions on the payinent of dividends to its 

Company is subject to the requirements ofDelawarc law, which generally limit dividends to an amount equal to the excess of the net 
assets of the Company (the aniount by which total assets excced total liabilities) over its statutory capital, or if there is no such excess, 
to its net profits for the current and/or irnmediatcly preccding fiscal year. 

I stockholders, although the source of such dividends will be dependent, in part, upon capital distributions from the Bank. The Holding 
I 
1 

On August 6,  2002 the Holding Company announced a stock rcpurchasc program. To date, 83,5X4 shares of its coiiirnon 
stock have been repurchased in open markct transactions at an average price of $17.03 per share. The Holding Company intends to 
use repurchased shares to fund its stock-based benefit and compensation plans and for any other purpose the Board dcetns advisable 
in coiiipliance with applicable law. The following tablc details purchases the Holding Company madc of its common stock during thc 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. 

The Holding Company’s common stock is listed on the American Stock Exchangc under the symbol “CNY.” As of May 3 1, 
2005, there were 2,s I 1,874 shares of the conimon stock outstanding, held by approximately 990 stockholders of record. The 
following table shows the high and low per share salec prices or the common stock and thc dividends declared for the quarters 
indicated. 

High Low Dividend High Low Dividend 

June 30,2004 $23.95 $ 19.15 $ 0.05 June 30,2003 $ 16.59 $ 13.66 $ 0.05 
Septcmber30,2004 $20.45 $ 17.95 $ 0.07 Scptember30, 2003 $ 18.15 $ 16.25 $ 0.05 
December 31, 2004 $20 82 $ 18.55 $ 0.07 Dcccmnber 3 I ,  2003 $ 2h.50 $ 17.60 $ 0.05 
March 3 I ,  2005 $20.07 $ 1x38  $ 0.07 March 31,2004 $ 26.00 $ 23.02 $ 0.05 

Fiscal Year 200s Fiscal Year 2004 

On October 26, 2004, the Holdiiig Company’s Board o f  Directors declared a $0.07 cash dividend to shareholders for the 
second quartcr of tiscal 2005. This rcpresents a $0.02 per share increase from the $0.05 previously paid each quartcr subsequent to 
the Board initially establishing payment of a quartcrly dividend on January 9, 2003, In each of the four fiscal years prior to fiscal 
2003, the Company paid an annual $0.05 per common share cash dividend. 

Under OTS regulations, thc Bank will not bc permitted to pay dividends to the Holding Company on its ciipital stock if its 
regulatoiy capital would be reduccd below applicable rcgulatory capital requireiiients or if its stockholders’ equity would be reduced 
below the amount required to be mainliiined for the liquidation account, which was cstablishcd in connection with thc Bank’s 
conversion to stock form. The OTS capital distribution regulations applicable to savings institutions (such as the Bank) that meet 
their rcgulatoiy capital requirements pcrtnit, after not less than 30 days prior notice to the OTS, capital distributions during a calendar 
year that do not exceed the Rank’s net inconic for that year plus its rctained net income for the prior two years. For infomation 
concerning the Bank’s liquidation account, see Note 1 1 of the Notcs to the Vonsolidatecl linancial Statements. 

Total Number Maxiinurn 
Total OL Shares Number of Shares 

Shares Price Paid of Publicly Purchased Under the 
Number of Avcrage Purchased as part that May Yet Be 

Purchased per Share Announced Plans Plans 
January I ,  2005 through 

January 3 1,2005 
February 1,2005 through 

170.085 

Fubruary 28,2005 599 18.73 594 169,486 
March 1, 2005 through 

March 3 1, 2005 21,435 18.39 2 1,435 148,051 

22,034 1 8.40 22,034 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

Sct forth below are our selected consolidated financial and othcr data. This financial data is derivcd in part ti-om, and should 
be read in conjunction with our consolidatcd financial statements and rclatcd notes. 

At or for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31. 

Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Loans, net 
Securitics 
Cash and cash cquivalents 
Deposits 
Borrowed funds 
Stockholders' equity 
Number of deposit accounts 
Number of offices 

Operating Data: 
Interest income 
lntercst cxpcnse 
Net interest incomc 
Provision for loan losscs 

Non-interest income 
Non-interest expenses 
lncomc (loss) before income taxes 
Income tax 
Net incomc (loss) 
Diluted earnings (loss) pcr common share 

Selected Statistical Data: 
Return on average asscts (1) 
Return on average equity (2) 
Net interest margin (3) 
Average interest ratc spread (4) 
Efficiency ratio ( 5 )  
Opcrating expense to average asscts (6) 
Equity to total assets at end of period 
Average equity to average asscts 
Dividend payout ratio (7) 

Asset Quality Ratios: 
Non-performing assets to total asscts (8) 
Non-performing assets to total loans receivable (8) 
Allowance for loan losscs to total loans receivablc 

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 

$ 626,377 
42 1,987 
149,335 
20,420 

453,454 
I 15,299 

$ 45,801 
40,199 

8 

?6 538,830 
35 1,900 
139,877 
22,774 

373,665 
104,282 

$ 44,645 
38,578 

6 

$ 509,845 
292,738 
165,585 
23,160 

347,164 
108,996 

$ 41,073 
41,220 

5 

$ 450,306 
289,7 10 
105,464 
3435 1 

324,954 
75,65 1 

$ 36,742 
41,200 

5 

$ 424,500 
283,437 

87,788 
3 1,758 

279,424 
105,600 

$ 32,096 
44,75 I 

5 

$ 28,546 %: 26,234 $ 27,390 $ 28,395 $ 28,336 
9,758 8,700 8,983 12,047 14,278 

18,788 17.534 18,407 16,348 14,058 
900 1,793 

18,788 17,534 18,407 15,448 12,265 
4,075 5,278 3,161 4,485 2,934 

18,696 15,480 14,704 14,339 15,490 
4,167 7,332 6,864 5,594 (291) 
1,518 2,493 3,033 88 1 98 

$ 2.649 $ 4.830 $ 3.831 $ 4.713 $ (389) 
? ,  

$ 1.03 $ 1.87 $ 1.52 $ 1.89 $ (0.26) 

0.45 ' X  
5.80 
3.41 
3.26 

81-77 
3.21 
7.3 1 
7.84 

24.64 

0.93 % 
11.40 
3.56 
3.40 

67.86 
2.97 
X.2Y 
8.13 
9.86 

0.83 'X 
9.77 
4.26 
4.08 

68. I8 
3.1% 
8.06 
x.4x 
3.19 

1.11 %, 
13.78 
4.09 
3.80 

77.89 
3.37 
8.16 
8.03 
2.55 

(0.07) % 
(0.89) 
3.61 
3.48 

96.93 
3.72 
7.56 
7.85 

( 1  7.24) 

0.16 Y" 0.39 Yo 0.36 %, 0.63 % 0.71 Ya 
0.23 0.60 0.61 0.96 1.04 
0.Y6 1.16 I .40 1.41 1.24 

( I )  Nct income divided by averagc total assets 
( 2 )  Net income divided by avcrage total equity 
(3) Net intcrcst income divided by averagc jntcrest-earning assets. 
(4) The difference hetwccn the weighted average yicld on interest-earning assets and the weighted average cost of iiitcrest-bearing liabilitics. 
(5) Non-intcrest cxpense (other than rcal cstate owned expenscs) divided by the sum of net intcrcst income and non-interest 

income (other than net security gains and losscs and other non-I-eculring income). 
(6) Non-interest expense lcss rcal estate owned expenscs, divided by average total asscts. 
(7) Dividends paid to common stockholders as a percentagc of net income (loss) availablc to common stockholders. 
(8) Non performing assets consist of non-accmal loans, loans accruing 90 days or more past due, and property acquired in settlcmcnt of loans. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 

The following discussion and analysis should be rcad in con,junction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes 
to Consoliditted Finitncial Statements presented elsewhere in this report. The Company’s results of operations are significantly 
affected by general economic and competitivc conditions, particularly changcs in market intcrest ratcs, government policies, changes 
in accounting standards and actions of regulatory agencies. 

Executive Summary 

Carver Bancorp Tnc., is a bank holding company organized under the laws of the statc of Delaware and registered as a “hank 
holding comp‘my” under the Bank Holding Chnpany Act of 1956, as amended. Carver is committed to providing superior customer 
service while offering a range of banking products and financial services to both our retail and commcrcial customers. The Holding 
Company’s pnmary subsidiary is Carver Federal Savings Bank which operates from cight branches in the New York City boroughs of 
Manhattan, Brooklyn and Quecns. 

Carver Federal’s net incomc is consistent with the thrift industry, namely that it is depcndent primarily on net interest 
income, which is the difference between interest incomc earned on its loan, investment and mortgage-backed securities portfolios and 
the interest paid on its interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and borrowings. In addition, net income is affected by thc level of 
provision for loan losses, as well as non-interest income and operating expenses. 

Carver’s net interest income increased year over year bascd on thc growth in average interest-earning asscts or $57.9 million 
to $550.8 niillion for fiscal 2005 from $493.0 million for fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, the Bank experienced strong growth in its core 
business with increases in net loans rcceivablc and deposits of 19.9% and 21.4%, respectively, compared to March 31, 2004. The 
resulting increase in net interest income orfset net interest margin compression resulting from the interest rate environmcnt and the 
impact of loan repayments. Net interest margin declined to 3,41% for fiscal 2005 from 3.56% for fiscal 2004 as the Federal Open 
Market Committee (Y-OMC”) raised the fedcral funds rate scven times during fiscal 2005. from June 2004. While short-tcrm U.S. 
Trcasury yields have shown somewhat similar increases since June o f  2004, the two and three year U.S. Treasury yields have shown 
only modest increascs and the fivc, ten and thirty year U.S. Treasury yields decreascd during the same period, resulting in a 
significant tlattcning of the U.S Treasury yield curve. Additionally, there has been interest rate volatility within the individual 
quiirters of fiscal 2005 which has rcsulted in volatility in cash flows and rcfinance activity. although not to the magnitudc experienced 
in fiscal 2004. In addition, repayments on mortgagc-backed securities and mortgage loans continued at a similar pace to fiscal 2004, 
thereby contributing to net interest mitrgin compression as thcse cash flows were reinvested at lower market yields. 

As previously noted, net intcrest income may be impacted by the Bank’s asset quality. Fiscal 2005 was another strong year 
of performance by the Bank’s loan portfolio where asset quality rcmaincd excellcnt, As a result, the Company did not provide for 
additional loan loss reserves its it considers the currcnt allowance for loan losses to be adequate. To maintain strong asset quality, the 
Company seeks to fo l l~w its loan policies and underwriting practiccs, which include: ( 1 )  granting loans on a sound and collectible 
basis; (2) understanding the needs of borrowers and thc economic conditions in the Company’s targct markct while maintaining a 
balance between yield and risk; (3) ensuring that sourccs o f  repayment are adequatc in relation to the amount of the loan; (4) 
developing and maintaining itdequatc diversification of the Bank’s loan portfolio as a whole and within loan categories; (5) ensuring 
that each loan is properly documented and monitored; and ( 4 )  developing and applying adequate collcction procedures. 

Net income for fiscal 2005 was unfavorably impacted by increascd expenses to expand the Hank’s franchise and by 
expenses related to the attempted lPSB acquisition. During fiscal 2005, the Bank succcsshlly opened two full servicc state-of-the-art 
branches at Atlantic Terminal in Fort Greene, Brooklyn and Bradhurst Court in Harlem. Additionally, in  the last 12 months the Rank 
opened two 2417 ATM banking ccnters also in Harlem and Brooklyn. These investments increased operating expenses substantially. 
Tn addition, financial results were impacted by an impairment charge deemed other than temporary oT$1.5 million, resulting from the 
decline in the market price of the 150,000 shares of common stock of lFSB that the Company held and merger relatcd expense 
charges of $847,000 also related to thc attempted TFSB acquisition. On May 1 I ,  2005, the Company sold all 150,000 shares of 
common stock held in IFSB for $10.50 per share for an aggregate price of $ I,575,000. 

The Bank’s strategy to enhance Tee income from operations has resulted in year over year incrcases in depository fees and 
charges, primarily ATM fees, debit card income and commissions from the sale of investiiicnts and insurance. Tn addition, the Bank 
bencfited from the receipt o f a  net $ 1  . I  million grant from the Department of the Treasury, as well as high loan prepayment penalty 
income. 

I ‘The outlook for fiscal 2006 rcflects many of the economic and competitive factors that the Rank faced in fiscal 2005. 
Structurally. the Rank’s balance sheet exhibits an asset sensitive bias over the long tenn. As a result, the Bank’s greatcst exposure i s  
to a lower rate environment as asset yields would be cxpectcd to decline while deposit costs would be expected to stabilize. Should 
ratcs continue to rise, additional margin cotnpression would be cxpectcd in thc near term, however, management anticipates that the 
Bank’s balance sheet would bcnefit over tinic from a prolonged I-ising rate environment. Although the U.S. Treasury yield curve is 
expected to continue to flatten during fiscal 2006, the Rank will continue to focus on growth in its core businesses, namely the 
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expansion of commcrcial loans and retail deposits. Deposit growth is expected to follow our new business and marketing effort to 
core customer groups including landlords, churches and other non-pmtits as residents of the communities we serve. New products 
designed to increase market share in these customer segments include a new lock-box service for landlords to collect rental payments, 
a checking overdraft line of credit in an effort to continue building our checking account deposit base and participation in the 
Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Services program to more efficiently address the collateral needs o f  large balance depositors. 
Regarding mortgage lending, the strength of originations and the purchase mortgage market coupled with the anticipated reduced 
level of loan prepayments should result i n  continued strong loan portfolio growth in fiscal 2006. Products such as sub-prime and 
jumbo mortgages for sale in thc secondary market will be introduced in  fiscal 2006 to address the needs of additional prospective 
borrowers, thereby lueling fee income growth. A parallel to expanding non-interest income is lowering the Bank’s fiscal 2005 
efficiency ratio of 81.77% for fiscal 2006, with an emphasis on cost reduction through further outsourcing of operations and 
additional measures including limiting further branch expansion in fiscal 2006. It i s  anticipated that if further flattening of the US .  
Treasury yield curve occurs, the Bank may utilr7e the cash flow of an expansion in its core busincss to reduce its securities and 
borrowing portfolios, thereby limiting asset growth. 

Merger with Independence Federal Savings Bank 

On March 15, 2004, the Company entered into a definitive merger agreement to acquire IFSB in a cash transaction valued at 
approxiniatcly $33 million. The transaction was expected to close before the end of 2004 and was subject to customasy closing 
conditions, including regulatory approvals and the approval of TFSR’s shareholders. 

On October IS,  2004 Carver was advised by the OTS of its denial of Carver‘s application to consummatc the merger 
agreement betwccn Carver, the Rank and IFSB. The merger agreement was subject to, among other things, approval by the OTS. As 
a resull, on October 26, 2004, the Company, the Bank and TFSR announced thcir mutual agreement to terminate the merger agreement 
and to release each party from all related liabilities. 

On May 1 I ,  200.5, the Company sold all 150,000 shares of common stock held in TFSB for $10.50 per share for an aggregate 
price of $1,575,000. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

Various elements of our accounting policies, by thcir nature, are inherently subject to estimation techniques, valuation 
itssumptions and other subjective assessments. Our policy with respect to the methodologies used to determine the allowance for loan 
losses is our most critical accounting policy. This policy is important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of 
operations, and it involves a higher degree of complexity and requires management to make difficult and subjective judgments, which 
often require assumptions or estimates about highly uncertain matters. The use of different judgments, assumptions and estimates 
could result in material differences in our results of operations or financial condition. 

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our critical accounting policy related to 
allowance for loan losses and an explanation of the methods and assumptions underlying its application. 

AssctlLiability Management 

Net interest income, the primary component of Carver Federal’s net income, is determined by the difference or “spread” 
between the yield earned on interest-earning assets and the rates paid on its interest-bearing liabilities and the relative mounts of such 
assets and liabilities. Because Cruver Federal’s interest-bearing liabilities consist primarily of shorter term deposit accounts, Carver 
Federal’s interest rate spread can be adversely affected by changes in general interest rates if its interest-earning assets are not 
sufficiently sensitive to changes in interest rates. The Bank has sought to reduce its exposure to changes in interest rates by more 
closely matching the effective maturities and repricing periods of its interest-earning assets and interest-hearing liabilities through a 
variety of strategies, including the origination and purchase of adjustable-rate mortgage loans for its portfolio, investment in 
adjustable-rate mortgage-backed securities and shorter-term investment securities and the sale of all long-tcrm fixed-rate mortgage 
loans originated into the secondary market. 

niscussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

As ii financial institution, the Bank’s primary cotnponent of market risk is interest rate volatility. Fluctuations in interest 
rates will ultiinately impact both the level o f  inconic and expense recorded on it large portion of the Bank’s assets and liabilities, and 
the markct value of all interest-earning assets, other than those which are short term in maturity. Sincc all of the Company’s intercst- 
bearing liabilities and virtually all of the Company’s interest-earning assets are held by the Rank, most of the Company’s TRR 
exposure is retained by the Bank. As a result, all significant IKR management procedures are performed at the Bank. Based upon the 
Rank’s nature of operations, the Rank is not subject to foreign currency exchange or commodity price risk. The Bank does not own 
any trading assets. 

Carver Federal seeks to manage its I N 7  by monitoring and controlling the variation in repricing intervals between its assets 
and liabilities. To a lesser extent, Carver Ycdcral also monitors its interest rate sensitivity by analyLcing the estimated changes in 

16 



market value of its assets and liabilitics assuming various interest rate scenarios. As discussed inore fully below, therc are a varicty of 
filctors which influence the repricing characteristics of any given asset or liability. 

The matching of assets and liabilities may be analyzed by examining the extent to which such asscts and liabilities are 
“interest rate sensitive” and by monitoring an institution’s interest rate sensitivity gap. An asset or liability is said to he interest rate 
sensitivc within a specific pcriod if it will mature or rcprice within that pcriod. Thc interest rate sensitivity gap is defined as the 
difference between the amount of intercst-earning assets maturing or repricing within a specific period of time and the amount of 
intcrcst-bearing liabilitics repricing within that samc time pcriod. A gap is considered positive whcn the amount of interest ratc 
sensitivc assets exceeds thc amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities and is considered negative when the amount o f  intcrest rate 
sensitive liabilities exceeds the aniount of interest ratc sensitive assets. Generally, during a period of falling intcrest rates, a negative 
gap could result in an increase in nct interest income, while a positive gap could adversely affect net interesl income. Conversely, 
during a period of rising interest rates a negative gap could adversely affect net intercst income, while a positive gap could rcsult in an 
increase in net intercst incomc. As illustrated below, Carvcr Federal had a negative onc-year gap cqual to 4.42% of total rate scnsitive 
assets at March 31, 2005. As a result, Carver Federal’s nct interest incoine could be ncgatively affected by rising interest ratcs and 
positively affccted by falling intcrest rates. 

The following table sets forth inforniation regarding the projected maturities, prcpayments and repricing of thc major rate- 
sensitive asset and liability categories or Carver Federal as of March 31, 2005. Maturity repricing dates have been projected by 
applying cstimated prepayment rates based on the current rate cnvironmcnt. The inforniation presented in the following table is 
derived in part from data incorporatcd in “Schedule CMR: Consolidated Maturity and Ratc,” which is part of the Bank’s quarterly 
reports filed with the OTS. The repricing and other assumptions are not necessarily representative of the Bank’s actus1 results. 
Classifications of itcms in the table below arc different from those presented in other tablcs and thc financial statements and 
accompanying notes included herein and do not reflcct non-performing loans. 

Three Over One 
or Four to Through Over Three Over Five Over 

Less Twelve Three Through Through Ten 
Months Months Years FiveYears Ten Years - Years Total - 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Rate Sensitive Assets: 
Loans and Mortgage Backed Securitics 
Federal Funds Sold 
Investment Securities 

Rate Sensitive Liabilities: 
N 0 W d enian d 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certificates of Deposit 
Borrowings 

Total interest-earning assets 

Total intcrest-bearing liabilities 

Tiiterest Sensitivity Gap 

Cuiiiulative Tntcrest Sensitivity Gap 
Ratio of Cumulative Gap to Total Kate 
Sensitive assets 

$ 64,946 $ 143,499 $ 74,730 $ 121,359 $ 55,344 $ X3,983 $ 543,861 
6,800 6,800 
6,020 2.758 3,922 8,275 20,975 

77,766 146,257 78,052 129,634 55,344 83,983 571,636 

55 1 
7,424 
4, I54 

108,65 1 
8,000 

$ 128,780 

$ (51,014) 

$ (51,014) 

77 1 
1 1,850 
332  I 

77,543 
26,840 

$ 120,525 

$ 25,732 

$ (25,282) 

7,320 
15,706 
18,621 
21,953 
52,334 

$ 115,934 

$ (37,282) 

$ (62,564) 

1,568 
11,939 

1,096 
19,933 
15,108 

.R 49,644 

$ 79,990 

$ 17,426 

4,676 
3 1,036 
4,390 
1,601 

21x 
%: 41,921 

$ 13,423 

$ 30,849 

9,209 24,005 
59,855 137,810 
4,512 36,294 

3 229,684 
102,500 

$ 73,579 $ 530,383 

$ 10,404 $ 41,253 

$ 41,253 

-8.92% -4.42% - 10.94% 3.05% 5.40% 7.22% 

The table above assumes that fixed maturity deposits are not withdrawn prior to maturity and that lransaction accounts will 
decay as disclosed in the table above. 

Ccrtain shortcomings are inherent in the method of analysis prcsented in the kblc above. Although certain assets and 
liabilities may have similar maturities or periods of repricing, they may react in  diffcrent degrees to changes in the inarkct interest 
rates. The intercst rates on certain types of assets and liabilitics may fluctuate in advancc of changcs i n  market intercst rates, while 
rates on other types of assets and liabilities may lag behind changes in market interest rates. Certain itssets, such as adjustable-rate 
mortgages, gcnerally have features that rcstrict changes in interest rates on a short-term basis and over the life of the asset. In the 
event of a change in interest rates, prepayrncnts and carly withdrawal lcvels would likely deviate signiticantly from those assumed in 
calculating the table. Additionally, credit risk may increase as many borrowers may experience an inability to service their debt in  the 
cvent of a rise in interest rate. Viitually all of the adjustable-rate loans in Carver Federal’s portfolio conlain conditions that rcstrict 
the periodic changc in interest rate. 

Ne1 Por~ i l io  Vulue (“NPV”) A n d y s i s  As part of its efforts to maximize nct interest income while managing risks 
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associated with changing interest rates, mmagement also uses the NPV methodology. 

Under this mcthodology, IRR cxposure is asscsscd by reviewing the estimated changcs in net interest income (“NII”) and 
NPV that would hypothetically occur if interest rates rapidly rise or fall along the yicld curve. Projected values of NTI and NPV at 
both higher and lower regulatory dcfined rate scenarios are coniparcd to base case values (no change in ratcs) to detennine the 
scnsitivity to changing interest rates. 

Presented below, as of March 31, 2005, is an analysis of the Rank’s IRR as measured by changes in NPV and NIT for 
instantancous and sustained parallel shifts of 100 basis points in market intercst rates. Such limits have been established with 
consideration of the impact of various rate changcs and the Rank’s currcnt capital position. The Bank considcrs its level of IRK for 
fiscal 2005, as measured by changes in NPV, to be minimal. The information set forth below relates solely to the Bank; howcvcr, 
because virtually all of the Company’s IRR exposure lics at the Rank levcl, management bclicves the table bclow also similarly 
reflects an analysis of the Company’s IRR. 

Net Portfolio Value NPV as a % of PV of Assets 
NPV Ratio Change Change in Rate $ Amount $ Change YO Change 

(Dollars in thousands) 
+300 bp 63,XX4 ( 2  1,049) -25% 10.28% -275 bp 
+200 bp 72,273 (12,660) - 15% 1 1.42% -161 bp 
+lo0 bp 79,480 (5,45 3) -6% 12.36% -67 bp 

0 bP 84,933 13.03% 
- 100 hp xx,049 3,l I6 4% 13.38% +35 bp 
-200 bp 89,358 4,425 5% 13.49% +45 bp 

March 31,2004 
Risk Measurcs: 4-200 BP Rate Shock 
Pre-Shock NPV Ratio: NPV as ”in of PV of  Assets 13.03% 
Post-Shock NPV Ratio 1 1.42% 
Scnsitivity Measure; Dccline in NPV Ratio 161 bp 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the methodology used in the abovo IRR measurements. Modeling changes in NPV 
require the making of certain assumptions, which may or may not retlect the nianner in which actual yields and costs respond to 
changes in market interest rates. In this regard, the NPV table prcsented assuines that the composition of Carver Federal’s interest 
sensitive assets and liabilities existing at the beginning of a period remains constant over thc period being measured and also assumcs 
that a particular chiingo in interest rates is reflected unifornily across the yield curve regardless of thc duration to maturity or repricing 
of specific assets and liabilitics. Accordingly, although the NPV table provides an indication of Carver Fcderal’s TRR exposure at a 
particular point in time, such measurements are not intcnded to and do not provide a precisc forecast of the cffect of changes in 
market interest rates on Carver Federal’s net interest inconic and may differ from actual results. 

Average Balance, Interest and Average Yields and Rates 

The following table sets forth certain infurnmtion relating to Carver Federal’s avcrage interest-earning assets and avcrage 
interest-bearing liabilities and reflects the average yicld on assets and the average cost of liabilities for the ycars indicated. These 
yields and costs are derived by dividing income or expensc by the average balances of assets or liabilities, respectivcly, for the periods 
shown. Average balances itrc derived from average month-end balances, exccpt for federal Lunds which are derivcd from daily 
balances. ‘The use of average monthly balances instead of average daily balances on all other accounts should not result in material 
differences in the information presentcd. 
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The table also presents information for the years indicated with respect to the difference between the weighted average yield 
earned on interest-earning assets and the weighted averagc rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities, or “interest rate spread,” which 
savings institutions havo traditionally used as an indicator of protitability. Another indicator of an institution’s profitability is its “net 
interest margin,” which is its net interesl income divided by the average balance of interest-earning assets. Net interest income is 
affected by the intercst rate spread and by thc relative amounts of rntercst-earning assets and interest-hearing liabilities. When 
interest-earning assets approximate or exceed interest-bearing liabilities, any positivc interest rate spread will generate net rntcrest 
incoiiic. 

Month Ended March 31,2005 
Average Average 
Balance YieldlCost Balance 

Year Ended March 31,2005 
Average Average 

Interest YieldKOst 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Interest-earning Asscts: 
Loans ( I ) 
Investment securities (2) 
Mortgage-backed sccurilies 
Federal funds 

Non-interest-earning asscts 
Total interest-earning asscts 

Total asscts 

Interest-bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits: 

NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certiticates of dcposit 

Total deposits 
Mortgagors deposits 
Borrowed money 

Non-intcrest-bearing liahil ities: 
Total deposits and interest-bearing liabilities 

Dcrnand 
Othcr liabilities 

Stockholders’ equity 

Nct interest income 

Average interest ratc spread 

Net interest margin 

Ratio of avcrage interest-earning assets to 

Total liabilities 

Total liabilities and stockholders‘ equity 

interest-bcaring liabilities 

$ 408,966 5.70‘Yo $ 384,916 $ 22,940 5.96% 
28,046 3 02% 29,547 827 2.80% 

129,006 3.95%) 125,643 4,605 3.67% 
20,606 2.62% 10,724 I74 1 .h2% 

586,714 5.08‘% 550.830 28,546 5.18% 
36,073 

$ 622,787 
3 1,677 

%: 582.507 

$ 24,620 0.299’~ $ 22,933 $ 69 0.30% 
136,695 0.61% 133,62 I 801 U.GO% 
35,407 1.36%) 30,116 302 1 .00% 

229,420 2.26% 208,584 4,258 2.04% 
426,142 1.54% 395,254 5,430 I .37% 

2,322 1.52% 2,2 I7 25 1.15% 
I 15,294 4.10% 109,787 4,303 3.92% 
543,758 2.09% 507,258 0,158 1.92% 

26,973 22,857 
5,728 6,724 

576,459 536,839 
46,328 

$ 622,787 
45,66X 

$ 582,507 
$18,788 

2.99% 

3.05% 

107.90% 

3.26% 

3.41% 

1 08.59Yu 

(1 ) Includes non-accrual loans 
(2) Includes FHLB-NY stock 
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Year Ended March 31, 
2004 2003 

Average Average Average 
Interest Earning Assets: Balance Interest YieldCost Balance Interest YieldKOst 

Loans (1) $ 314,207 $ 20,117 6.40% $ 282,439 $ 21,194 7.50% 

Mortgage-backed securities 126,764 4,789 3.78% 93,002 4,282 4.60% 

(Dollars in thousands) 

I Investment securities (2) 29,708 1,161 3.91% 36,660 1,614 4.40% 

Average 

Fed funds sold 
Total interest earning assets 

22, I94 167 0.75% 19,744 300 I S2Yo 
492,963 26,234 5.32% 43 1,845 27,390 6.34% 

Non- interest earning assets 28,423 30,414 
Total assets $ 521,386 $ 462,259 

Interest Bearing Liabilities: 
Dcposits 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money inarket savings 
Certificates of deposit 
Total dcposits 

$ 23,286 $ 85 0.37% !$ 18,138 $ 130 0.72% 
130,509 I,O0 1 0.77% 127,004 1,477 1.16% 
27,662 235 0.85% 16,747 I89 1.13% 

163,382 3,304 2.02% 155,187 3,964 2.55Yn 
344,839 4,625 I .34% 3 17,076 5,760 1.82% 

Mortgagers dcposits 1,643 24 1.46% 
Harrowed money 106,350 4,OS 1 3.81% 80,861 3,223 3.99% 
Total interest bearing liabilities 452,832 x,700 1.92% 397,037 8,983 2.26% 
Non-interest-bearing liabilities: 
Demand 19,408 15,234 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

6,746 
478,986 

9,880 
423,05 1 

Stockholders’ equity 42,400 39,208 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ cquity $ 52 1,386 $ 462,259 
Net interest incoinc $17,534 $ 18,407 

I Average interest rate sprcad 

I Net interest margin 

Ratio ol’avgcrage interest-earning assets to 
interest-bearing liabilities 

(1 ) Includcs non-accrual loans. 
(2) Includes FHTS-NY stock. 

RateNolume Analysis 

3.40% 4.08% 

3.56% 4.26% 

108.52% 108.86% 

Thc following table sets forth information rcgarding the extent to which changes in intcrcst rates and changcs in volume o f  
interest related assets and liabilities hiivc affected Carver E’cderal’s interest incomc and expense during the periods indicatcd. For 
each ciitcgory of interest-earning asset and interest-bearing liability, information is providcd for changes attxibutablc to: ( 1 )  changes in 
volume (changes in volume multiplied by new rate); (2) changes in rates (changc in rate multiplietl by old volume); and (3) changes 
in ratc/volume, Changes in rate/volume variance are allocated proportionately between changes in rate and changes in volume. 
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Intcrest Earning Assets: 
Loans 
Investment securities 
Mortgage-backcd securities 
Fed funds 
Total intcrest earning assets 

Interust Bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits 
NOW dcmand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Ccrtificates of deposit 
Total deposits 
Borrowed money 
Total deposits and interest bearing liabilities 

Net change in intcrest income 

YtZWFJ&dMaK.hgL, 
2005 VS. 2004 2004 vs. 2003 

Increase (Decrease) duc to Increase (Decrease) due to 
Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total 

(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 4,209 $ (1,386) $ 2,823 $ 2,039 $ (3,116) $ (1,077) 
(5) (329) (334) (273) (1 80) (453) 

(41) (143) (1 84) 1,270 (763) 507 
18 (151) (133) 

(4,210) (1,156) 
193 7 

3,977 ( I  ,665) 2,3 12 3,054 
(1x6) 

1 15 16 19 (64) (45) 
(19) 219 200 27 (503) (476) 
(25 1 (43 ) (68) 93 (47) 4A 

(923) (31) (954) 165 (801) (636) 

( 1 , 1 W  50 (1,058) 1,328 (1,611 j (283) 

(966) 1 60 (806) 3 04 (1,415) (1,111) 
(142) (110) (252) 1,024 (1 96) 828 

Comparison of Financial Condition at March 31,2005 and 2004 

At March 31, 2005, total assets increased by $87.5 million, or lh.3%, to $626.4 million compared to $538.8 million ai 
March 31, 2004. The increase in total assets was primarily attributable to increases in loans receivable, total securities, premises and 
equipment and other assets. 

Loans receivablc, net, increased by $70.1 million, or 19.9%, to $422.0 million as of March 3 I, 2005 compared to $351.9 
million one year ago. The net loan growth during fiscal 2005 reflects loan originations ofS85.X million and loan purchases of $104.7 
million, offset by principal repayments of $112.6 million and loans sold to FNMA of $8.1 million. One- lo four-family inortgage 
loans increased by $57.2 million, or 57.9%, to $155.8 million at March 31, 2005 compared lo S9X.6 million at March 31, 2004. The 
increase in onc- to four-family loans is primarily due to additional loan purchases of $81.9 million and to, a lesser extent, loan 
originations of  $15.4 million. Multifamily real estate loans decreased by $18.4 million, or 15.3%, to $101.9 million at March 31, 
2005 compared to $120.3 million at March 3 1 ,  2004 as repayments exceeded total additions. Non-residential real estate loans 
increased by $14.1 million, or 13.8%, to $116.8 million at March 31, 2005 compared to $102.6 million at March 31, 2004 primarily 
;is a result of originations of $30.8 million and purchases or $6.4 million during the year. Chnstruction loans iiicrcased by $21.2 
million, or 77.5%, to $48.6 million at March 3 1 ,  2005 compared to $27.4 million at March 3 1, 2004 primarily due to purchases. The 
Bank continues to grow its balance sheet through focusing on the origination of real estate loans i i i  the markets it serves and will 
augment these originations with loan purchases. Consumer and business loans decreased by $4.3 million, or 7 1 . X u / ,  to $ I .7 niillion at 
March 31, 2005 compared to $6.0 million at March 31, 2004 reflecting the payoff of four secured business loans iii the amount of 
$1 .0 million each which were originated during fiscal 2004. 

Total securities at March 31, 2005 increased $9.5 million to $149.3 million from $139.9 million at March 31, 2004, 
retlecting a $2 1 .6 million increase in available-for-sale securities and a $12. I inillion decrease in hcld-to-maturity securities. The 
increase in available-[or-sale securities primarily retlects purchases of $83.2 niillion partially offset by $51.4 million in principal 
repayments, maturities and calls, $7.3 million in proceeds from sales ofsecurities, and an $2.4 million decrease in the market value of 
the portfolio o f  which $1.5 million was a permanent impairment charge on IFSB stock held in portfolio. The decrease in held-to- 
maturity securities reflects principal payments and maturities of $12.0 million. Available-for-sale securities represented 79.0% of the 
total sccurities portfolio at March 3 I ,  2005 compared to 68.9% at March 3 1, 2004. The Bank invests in securities to help diversi ry its 
asset portfolio and satisfy collateral requirements for certain deposits. 

At March 31, 2005, total liabilities increased $86.4 million, or 17.94, to $580.6 million compared to $494.2 inillion at 
March 31, 2004. Deposits increased $79.8 million, or 21.4%, to $453.5 million at March 31, 2005 from $373.7 million at March 31, 
2004. The increase in deposits was primarily attributable lo increases of $61.7 million in certificates of deposit, $6.6 tiiillion in regular 
savings and club accounts, $6.0 million in demand accounts and $5.5 million in money market accounts. Deposit increases reflects 
$50 million in new certificates ofrlcposit from the City and the State under New York State’s Banking Development District program 
and new money from the Hank’s increased retail depositors from the new branches. These additional funds from deposit growth were 
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used to fund loan originations and purchases. Total FHLR-NY borrowings increased $1 1 .0 million, or 10.6%, to $ I  15.3 million at 
March 3 1, 2005 from $104.3 million at March 31, 2004 as a result of net additional advances. 

At March 31, 2005, stockholders’ equity increased $1.2 million, or 2.6%, to $45.8 million compared to $44.6 million at 
March 31, 2004. The increase m stockholders’ equity was primarily attributablc to net income of $2.6 million partially offset by a 
decreasc of $493,000 in accumulated other comprehensive incoinc related to the mark-to-market o f  the Bank’s available-for-sale 
securities and net repurchases of thc Company’s common stock of$263,000 and dividends declared of $793,000. The Bank’s capital 
levels meet regulatory rcquirements of a wcll capitalized financial institution. 

Comparison doperating Results for the Years Ended March 31,2005 and 2004 

Net Incomc 

The Bank reported net income for tiscal 2005 of $2.6 million compared to $4.8 million for thc prior fiscal year. Net income 
available to comnion stockholders for fiscal 2005 was $2.5 million, or $1.03 pcr diluted common sharc compared to $4.6 million, or 
$ I 3 7  per diluted common share, Tor fiscal 2004. The dccrcase in net income was primarily due to an incrcase in non-interest cxpense 
of $3.2 million and ii dccrease in non-intcrcst income or $1.2 million partially offset by an increase i n  net interest income of $1.3 
million and a $975,000 reduction in income tax expense. 

Interest Income 

Interest income increased for fiscal 2005 by $2.3 million, or 8.X% to $28.5 million, from the prior fiscal year. The average 
balance of interest-earning asscts increased to $550.X million Tor fiscal 2005 from $493.0 million for the prior fiscal year. This 
increase was partially offset by a decline in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 5.08% for fiscal 2005 coiparcd to 5.32% 
for fiscal 2004. 

Interest incoinc on loans increased by $2.X million, or 14.0%, to $22.9 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $20.1 niillion for 
the prior fiscal year. The incrcase in  interest income from loans was priniarily the result of a $70.6 million increasc in average loan 
balances to $384.9 niillioii for fiscal 2005 compared to $3 14.3 million for fiscal 2004, the effects of which were partially offset by a 
44 basis point decrease in thc average rate eitrncd on loans to 5.96% for fiscal 2005 rrom 6.40% for the prior fiscal ycar. The increase 
in the average balance oT loans reflects originations and purchases in cxcess of principal collections. The decline in the average rate 
earned on loans was principally rluc to the downward pricing on loan products during the low intcrcst rate environment cxperienced 
during most of fiscal 2005, see “Item 7. Managemenl Discussion and Analysis Liquidity and Cappi tal Resources.” 

lnterest income on mortgage-backed securities decreased by $184,000, or 3.8%, to $4.6 million for lisciil 2005 compared to 
$4.8 inillion for the prior Gscltl year, reflecting the combined effects nn 11 basis point decrease in the average ratc earned on 
mortgage-backed securities to 3.67% for fiscal 2005 from 3.78% for the prior tiscal year, and a decrease of $1.1 million in the 
avcrage balance of mortgage-backed securities to $1 25.6 million for tiscal 2005 compared to $126.8 million for fiscal 2004. Thc 
decrease in the average balance of such securities demonstratcs Management’s commitment to invest procceds received from 
increitscd borrowings md dcposits into higher yielding assets. 

Interest inconic on investment securities decreased by approximately $334,000, or 2X.8%, to $827,000 for fiscal 2005 
cornpared to $1.2 million for the prior fiscal year. The decrease in intcrcst income on investmcnt securities reflects zi 11 1 basis point 
decrease in the itvcrage rate earned on investment securities to 2.80% for fiscal 2005 tkom 3.91% for the prior liscal year and a 
decrease of $16 1,000 in the average balance of investiiient securities to $29.5 million for tiscal 2005 compared to $29.7 inillion for 
fiscal 2004. 

Interest incoinc on federal funds incrcased $7,000, or 4.2‘%, to $174,000 Tor fiscal 2005 compared to $167,000 for the prior 
fiscal year. The increase is primarily attributable to an 87 basis point increase in the average ratc carned on federal funds, partially 
offset by a $1 I .5 million decrease in the average balance of federal Tunds ycar over year. This large increase in thc rcturns on federal 
funds was rcalizcd as the FRB continually increased the federal funds ratc during the enlire fiscal year. 

Interest Expcnse 

Tnterest expense increased by $ 1 .  I million, or 12.296, to $9.8 million for fiscal 2005 coniparcd to $8.7 million for the prior 
fiscal year. The increase in interest expense reflects an increase of $54.4 million in the avcrage balance of interest-bearing liabilities 
to $507.2 million in tiscal 2005 from $452.8 million in fiscal 2004 iis the total cost o f  interest-bearing liabilities rcmained unchanged 
at I .02% from ycar to year. The increase in the avcragc balance of intercst-bcaring liabilities in fiscal 2005 coniparcd to fiscal 2004 
was due to increases in both the avei-tigc balance of interest-bcaring deposits and thc average balance of borrowed money. 

Tnterest expense on deposits increased $806,000, or 17.3%, to $5.5 million for tiscal 2005 compared to $4.6 million for the 
prior fiscal year. This increase is altributable to a $50.4 million, or 14.6%, increase in the average bitlancc of interest-bearing deposits 
to $395.3 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $344.:1 million for fiscal 2004 and, to a much lewer extent, B 3 basis point increasc year 
over year in the cost of average deposits. The increase in the average balance of interest-bcaring deposits was primarily due to an 
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increase in the averagc balance of certificates or deposit of $45.2 million, or 27.70/0, an increase in the averagc balance of savings and 
club accounts of $3.1 million, or 2.4‘%, and an increase in tho average balance of money market accounts of $2.5 million, or 8.92%. 
The increase in avertige interest-bearing deposits was achievcd largcly though dcposits generated by the two new branches and two 
new ATM centcrs in fiscal 2005. The slight increase in the average rate paid on deposits was principally due to the ascend in the 
interest rate environment towards the end of fiscal 2005. 

Tntcrest expense on borrowed money incrcased by $252,000 or 6.2%, to $4.3 inillion for fiscal 2005 compared to $4.1 
million for the prior fiscal year. The incruase in interest expense on borrowcd money for fiscal 2005 rcflects a $8.9 million, or 8.4%, 
incrcase in the average balance of borrowed money reflecting the effccts of the trust prcferred debt securities being outstanding for 
twelve months in fiscal 2005 as compared to six months in fiscitl2004, the year they were issued. Also contributing to the increase in 

intercst expcnse is a rise of 1 1 basis points in the average cost of borrowed money primarily the result of increases in the indcxed rate 
of the trust prcferred debt securities which adjust quarterly and has increased in the current interest rate environment. 

Net Interest Incutne 

Net intcrest inconic represents the difference betwecn income on interest-earning assets and expense on intercst-bearing 
liabilities. Net interest incornc depends primarily upon the volume of interest-earning assets and intercst-bearing liabilities and the 
corresponding interest rates earned and paid. Our net interest income is significantly impacted by changes in interest ratc and market 
yield curves. Sec “-Discussion of Market Risk Anterest Ratc Sensitivity Analysis” for further discussion on the potential impact of 
changes in intercst rates on our results o f  operations. 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $1.3 million. or 7.2”/0, to $18.8 million for fiscal 2005 
compared to $17.5 million for the prior fiscal ycar. This increase was achicved despite a decline in the return on average intcrest- 
earning assets of 14 basis points in fiscal 2005 from fiscal 2004 while the cost of intercst-bearing liabilities used to fund interest- 
earning asscts remained unchanged From year to year. The result was a 14 basis point decrease in the intercst ratc spread to 3.26% for 
fiscal 2005 compared to 3.40% Tor the prior fiscal year. The net intcrest margin iilso decreased to 3.41% for fiscal 2005 compared to 
3.56% Tor fiscal 2004. 

Pruvision firr Loan Losses 

During fiscal 2005 no provision was recorded for loan losses. The Bank records provisions for loan losscs, which arc 
charged to earnings, in order to niaintain the allowance for loan losses at a level that is considered appropriate to absorb probable 
losses inherent in the existing loan portfolio. Factors considered when evaluating the adcquacy of thc allowance for loan losses 
include the volume and type of lending conducted, thc Bank’s previous loan loss experience, the known and inhcrent risks in the loan 
poi-tfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral and trends 
in the local and national cconomy and trends in the real estate market. 

During fiscal 2005, the Bank had net charge-offs of $28,000 compared to $33,000 for fiscal 2004. At March 31, 2005, non- 
performing loans totaled $998,000 or 0.2% of tovdl loans compared lo $2.1 million, or 0.6% of total loans, at March 31, 2004. At 
March 31, 2005, the Dank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.1 million, substantially unchanged from the allowance at March 31, 
2004, resulting in a ratio of the allowance to non-pcrfonning loans or 4 10.7% at March 3 1, 2005 compared to 194.3% at March 3 1 ,  
2004, and a ratio of allowimce for possible loan losses to total loans of 0.96% and 1.16% at March 3 I ,  2005 and March 3 I ,  2004, 
respectively. Thc Bank believos its reported allowance for loan loss at March 31, 2005 is adequate to provide for estimated probablc 
losses in the loan portfolio. For further discussion of non-performing loans and allowance for loan losses, see “Itcm 1- -Business- 
General Dcscription of Business-Asset Quality” and Note I of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Non-fnterest Income 

Non-interest income is comprised of loan fees and service charges, fee income from banking services and charges, gains or 
losses from the sale of securities, loans and other assets and certain other niiscellancous non-interest income. Non-intcrest income 
decreased $1.2 million, or 22.8%, to $4.1 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $5.3 million for fiscal 2004. The decrease is primarily 
due a $1.5 million impairment charge takcn on the TFSB stock held in our available for sale portfolio. Additionally, with the slow 
down in loan refinancing activity, lower loan prcpaymcnt penalty income resulted in it decline in loan fees and service charges of 
$739,000. Further, other noli-interest income declined $373,000 when compared to the same period last fiscal year when a recovery 
of $55X,OOO was rccordcd as income in recognition of prcviously unrecognized mortgage loan income. Offsetting these reductions to 
non-interest incornc are incornc from the receipt of a net $1.1 million Community Development Financial Institutions grant from the 
Department of Treasury, an increase of $287,000 in depository fees and charges from additional depositors of our new branches and 
ATMs, mid a $63,000 gain from securities sale. 

Nun-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expense incrcased by $3.2 million, or 20.X9/0, to $18.7 million for fiscal 2005 comparcd to $15.5 million for the 
prior fiscal year. The increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to increases of $1.9 million in salaries and employee 
benefits as a result of additions to staff from the branch cxpansion, scverancc and related costs of $355,000 and increased costs of 
benefits plans. Nct occupancy and equipment expenses increased $5 14,000 and $122,000, respectively, mainly as a result of opening 
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the new branches and ATMs. Additionally, this fiscal year recorded a charge of$847,000 for niergcr and acquisition expenses related 
to the attcmpted acquisition of IFSB. These increases in non-interest expenses were slightly offsct by a year over year $141,000 
decrease in other non-intcrcst expense primarily the net result of lower consulting, FDIC deposit assessment and loan related expenses 
Offset by higher advertising, telcphone and retail rclated expenses. 

Income Tux Expense 

Income tax expcnsc was approximately $1.5 million for fiscal 2005, a decline of $975,000 or 39.1%, decrease from $2.5 
million for fiscal 2004 due to a reduction in thc Company’s net incomc bcfore taxes. The effeclive tax rate in fiscal 2005 was 36.4%, 
comparcd to 34.0% for fiscal 2004. 

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended March 31,2004 and 2003 

Net Income 

The Bank reported nct income for fiscal 2004 of $4.8 inillion compared to $3.8 million for the prior fiscal year. Net income 
available to common stockholders for fiscal 2004 was $4.6 million, or $1 3 7  per diluted common share compared to $3.6 million, or 
$1.52 per diluted coiiunon share, for fiscal 2003. The increase in net income was primarily due to a $2.1 million incrcase in non- 
interest income and a $540,000 reduction in income tax expense partially offset by an $873,000 dccrcasc in net interesl income and a 
$776,000 increase in non-interest expense. 

Interest Income 

Interest incomc for fiscal 2004 was $26.2 million, a decrease of $1.2 million, or 4.29’0, from the prior fiscal ycar. The 
average balance of interest-earning assets increased to $493.0 million for fiscal 2004 from $431.8 million for the prior fiscal year. 
This increasc was more than offset by a decline in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 5.32% for fiscal 2004 compared to 
6.34% for tiscal2003. 

Interest income on loans decreased by $1. I million, or 5.196, to $20. I million for fiscal 2004 compared to $21.2 million for 
the prior fiscal year. The dccrcase in interest income from loans reflects a 1 IO basis point decrease in thc average rate earned on loans 
to 6.40% for fiscal 2004 from 7.50% for the prior fiscal year, the effccts of which were partially offset by an increase of $31.9 
million, or I1.3%, in the average balance of loans to $314.3 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $282.4 inillion for fiscal 2003. The 
increase in the average balance of loans reflects originations and purchases in excess of principal collections. The decline in the 
average rate earned on loans was principally due to the downward pricing on loan products during the low intercst rate environment 
experienced during fiscal 2004, see “Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis-Liquidity and Capital Resourceh.” 

lntcrcst income on mortgage-backed securities increased by $507,000, or I I .8%, to $4.8 inillion for fiscal 2004 conipascd to 
$4.3 million for the prior tiscal year, reflecting an incrcase of $33.8 million in the average balance o f  mortgagc-backed securities to 
$126.8 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $93.0 million for fiscal 2003. The increase in thc average balance of such sccurities was 
duc to the utili7ation of part of the proceeds received from increased borrowings and dcposits, coupled with the redeployment of 
mortgage loan principal repayments, to purchasc mortgage-backed securities. This increase was partially offset by an 82 basis point 
decreasc in the average rate earned on mortgage-backed securities to 3.78% for tiscal 2004 from 4.60% for the prior fiscal year. 

Interest income on investment securities decreased by approximately $453,000, or 28.1%, to $1.2 million for fiscal 2004 
compared to $1.6 million for the prior fiscal year. Thc decrease in interest income on investment securities reflects a 49 basis point 
decrease in the average rate earned on investment securities to 3.91% for fiscal 2004 from 4.40%) for the prior fiscal year and a 
decrease of $7.0 million in the average balance of investment securities to $29.7 million for fiscal 2004 compared lo $36.7 million for 
fiscal 2003. 

Interest income on federal funds decreased $133.000, or 44.3%, to $167,000 for fiscal 2004 compared to $300,000 for the 
prior fiscal year. The decrease is attributable to a 77 basis point decrease in thc average rate earned on federal funds, partially offset 
by a $2.5 million increase in the average balance of federal funds. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense decreased by $283,000, or 3.2%, to $8.7 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $9.0 million for the prior fiscal 
year. The decrease in interest expense reflects a decline or 34 basis points in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities. This 
decline in average rate paid was partially offset by a $54.9 million increase in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities to 
$452.8 million in fiscal 2004 from $397.9 million in fiscal 2003. The increahc in the average balance ofintercst-bearing liabilities in 
fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003 was due to increases in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits, as well as increases in 
the average balance of borrowed money. 

Interest cxpense on deposits decreased $1.1 million, or 19.3%, to $4.6 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $5.8 million for 
the prior fiscal ycar. This decrease is attributable to ii 48 basis point decrease in the cost of average dcposits partially offset by a 

24 



$27.7 million, or 8.X%, increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits to $344.8 million for fiscal 2004 compared to 
$3 1 7.1 million for fiscal 2003. The incrcase in thc average balance of intcrest-bearing deposits was primarily due to an incrcase in 
the average balance of money market accounts of $10.9 million, or 65.2%, and an increase in the average balance of certificates of 
deposit of $8.2 million, or 5.3%. The incrcase in average interest-bcaring deposits was achieved in part through deposits generated by 
a new branch and two new ATM centers in fiscal 2004. The decrease in the avcrage rate paid on deposits was principally due to the 
declining interest rate environment experienced in fiscal 2004. 

Tntercst expense on borrowed money increased by $828,000, or 25.7%, to $4.1 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $3.2 
million for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest expense on borrowed money for fiscal 2004 rcflects a $25.5 million increase 
in the average balance of borrowed money, of  which $6.9 million resultcd from the issuance of trust prcfcrred debt securities, partially 
offset by a decrease of 18 basis points in the average cost o f  borrowed money. The decrease in average cost of borrowings was due to 
the continucd declining interest rate environment experienced during fiscal 2004. 

Nct Interest lnncome 

Net intcrest income represcnts the difference between income on intcrcst-earning assets and expense on intcrest-bearing 
liabilities. Net interest income depends primarily upon the volume of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilitics and the 
corresponding interest rates earned and paid. Our net interest income is significantly impacted by changes in intcrcst rate and market 
yield curves. See “ -Discussion of Market Risk-lnterest Rate Sensitivity Analysis” for further discussion on the potential impact of 
changes in interest rates on our results of operations. 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses decreased $873,000, or 4.7%, to $17.5 million Tor fiscal 2004 
compared to $1S.4 million for the prior fiscal year. The 102 basis point decrease in the return on avcrage interest-earning assets, 
coupled with a 34 basis point dccrease in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities used to fund interest-earning assets, contributed to a 68 
basis point decrease in the intercst rate spread to 3.40% for fiscal 2004 compared to 4.08% for the prior fiscal year. The net interest 
margin decreased to 3.56% for fiscal 2004 compared to 4.26% tor fiscal 2003. 

Provision for Loan Losses 

During fiscal 2004 no provision was recorded for loan losses as management considered that the allowance for loan losses 
was an appropriatc level to absorb probable losses inherent in the existing loan portfolio. 

During fiscal 2004, the Bank had net charge-offs o f  $33,000 coinpared to nct recoveries of $30,000 for fiscal 2003. At 
March 3 I ,  2004, non-performing loitns totaled $2. I million, or 0.6% of total loans coniparcd to $1.8 million, or 0.694 of total lo,ms, at 
March 31, 2003. At March 31, 2004, the Bank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.1 million, substantially unchanged from that of 
March 3 I ,  2003, resulting in a ratio o f  the allowance to non-performing loans of 1 94.3% at March 3 1, 2004 compared to 230.7% at 
March 3 I ,  2003, and a ratio of allowance for possible loan losses to total loans of I ,  16% and I .40% at March 3 I ,  2004 and March 3 I ,  
2003, respectivcly. The Bank believes its reported allowance for loan loss a1 March 3 1, 2004 is both appropriate in thc circumstances 
and adequate to provide for estiinated probable losses in the loan portfolio. bor further discussion of non-performing loans and 
allowancc for loan losses, see “Item 1 -Business -General Description of Busincss-Asset Quality” and Note 1 o f  Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Non-Intercst hcume 

Non-interest income i s  comprised of loan fees and service charges, gains or losses from the salc of securities and certain 
other itcms, Tee income for banking services and miscellaneous non-interest income. Nun-interest income increased $2.1 million, or 
67.0%, to $5.3 million tbr fiscal 2004 compared to $3.2 million for fiscal 2003. The increase is primarily due to a $1.3 million 
increase in loan Fees and service charges and a $590,000 increase in other. or miscellaneous, non-interest income. Loan fees and 
scrvice charges amounted to $2.6 million for iiscal 2004, a 94.4% increase froin the prior fiscal year, primarily resulting froni higher 
mortgage prcpayiiient penalties relating to increased refinancing activity including several loans whose prepayment penalties were 
based on the yield niaintcnance mcthod coinpared to a tYat declining rate iiicthod usually used by the Bank. The yield maintenance 
method is calculatcd by using a stated contractual interest rate for the rcniaiiiing term or thc loan multiplied by the current outstanding 
balance. C!urrent loan production does not incorporate the yield maintenance method. Additionally, a dccline in the refinance market 
could result in lower prepayment pcnalty fcc income. Other non-interest income amounted to $597,000 for fiscal 2004 compared to 
$7,000 for the prior fiscal year. The increase in other non-interest income was primarily a result of a recovery o f  $558,000 of which 
$4 I 1,000 was relatcd to the rccognition of previously unrccognized mortgage loan inconic from cine problem loan that had been held 
in escrow pcnding the resolution of certain mechanics’ liens. The remaining recovery of $147,000 was from previously unrecognizcd 
prepaid mortgage loan income. 

Nun-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expense increased by $776,000, or 5.3”/(1, to $15.5 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $14.7 million for the 
prior fiscal year. The increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to increases of $8 13,OOO in salaries and ernployce 
benefits and $SX,OOO in net occupancy and cquipment cxpenses, slightly offset by a decrease or $95,000 in other non-interest cxpense. 
The increase in salaries imd ernployce benefits was primarily attributable to annual salary increases, new hires and the increased costs 
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or bcnetit plans. Net occupancy expenses mcreascd primarily from new and upgraded 24/7 ATM cenlers and the Bank’s Jamaica 
Center branch, 

lncnme Tau Expense 

lnconie tax expense was approximately $2.5 million for fiscal 2004, a $540,000, or 17.8%, decreasc from $3.0 tnillion for 
fiscal 2003 due to a reduction in the Company’s tax rate following the establishment of a RETT. The effective tax rate in fiscal 2004 
was 34.0% compared to 44.2% in tiscal 2003. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity is a measure of the Blink’s ability to geiicrate adequate cash to meet tinancia1 obligations. The principal cash 
requirements of ii financial institution are to cover potential deposit outflows, fund increases in its loan and investment portfolios and 
cover its ongoing operating expenses. The Company’s primary sources of funds are deposits, borrowed funds, principal and interest 
payiiients on loans, mortgage-backed securities and investment securities and fee income. While maturities and scheduled 
amortization of loans, mortgage-backed securities and investment securities are predictable sources of funds, deposit flows and loan 
and rnortgagc-backed securities prepayments are strongly influenced by changes in general interest rates, economic conditions and 
competition. 

Management believcs the Rank’s short-term asscts have sufficient liquidity to cover loan demand, potential tluctuations in 
deposit accounts and to meet other anticipated cash requiremcnts. In addition, as previously discussed, the Bank has the ability to 
borrow funds rrom the FIILB-NY to further meet any liquidity needs. The Bank inonitors its liquidity utilizing guidelines that are 
contained in a policy developcd by management of the Bank and approved by the Rank’s Board of Directors. The Bank’s several 
liquidity measurenients are evaluated on a frequent basis. Thc Bank was in compliance with this policy as of March 3 1,2005. 

Congrcss eliminated thc statutory liquidity requircment which required federal savings banks to maintain a minimum 
amount of liquid assets of hetwecn 4% and 1 O%, as determined by the Director of the OTS, the Bank’s primary federal regulator. The 
Rank is required to maintain sufficient liquidity to cnsure its safe and sound operation. As a result or the elimination of the liquidity 
requirement, the Bank manages its liquidity through a Board-approved liquidity policy. The Bank’s iiiost liquid assets are cash and 
short-term investments. The level of these assets is dependent on the Rank’s operating, investing and financing activities during any 
given period. At March 3 1 ,  2005 and 2004, assets qualifying k>r short-term liquidity, including cash and short-term investments, 
totaled $30.2 million and $28.7 million, respectively. 

The levels of the Bank’s short-term liquid assets arc dependent on the Bank’s operating, tinancing and investing activities 
during any given pcriod. ‘Ihc most signiticant liquidity challenge the Rank currently faces is the variability in its cash flows as a rcsult 
of mortgage retinancc activity, which has resultcd in a lag in redeploying lower yielding federal funds into higher yielding mortgage 
loans, which has had a negative impact on tho Company’s ne1 intcrest margin and iict interesl income. As mortgage interesl riitcs 
decline, customers’ refinance activities tend to acceleratc, causing the cash flow from both the mortgage loan portrolio and thc 
mortgage-backed securities portfolio to acceleratc. I n  addition, as mortgage iiitcrest ralcs dccrease, customers gencrally tend to prefer 
tixed rate mortgage loan products to variable riitc products. Since the Bank gcnerally sells its 1 5-yciir and 30-year tixed rate loan 
production into the secondary mortgage market, the origination of such products for sale docs not signi Eicantly reduce the Rank’s 
liquidity. During liscal 2003, the federal funds rate was again lowcrcd oii three separate occasions i i  total of 125 basis points. During 
t k a l  2004 thc federal funds rate remained unchanged. In fiscal 2005 the federal hinds rate increased seven separate times resulting 
in a total increase in tho federal funds rate of 175 basis points. Whilc the Hank expericnccd increases in loan iind securities 
1-cpaymeiits over the last two fiscal years primarily as ii result of the increase in mortgage loan refinancing activity ciiuscd by the 
lower interest I-ate environment, fiscal 2005 recognized a leveling or these prepayments as rates begin to climb. 

The Clonsolidatcd Statemcnts of Cash Flows present the change i i i  cash from operating, investing and financing activities. 
During fiscal 2005, cash and cash cquivalcnts decreased by $2.4 million. Net cash used in operaling activities was $5.0 million, 
representing primiirily cash used for other asscts and thc satisfwhn o f  other liabilities offsel by cash kom operations. Net cash used 
in investing activities was $86.3 million, which was primarily the rcsult o f  purchases of loans and sccurities, originations of loans and 
purcliasc of equipmerit partially offset by repayments and maturities of loans and securitics and loan sales. Net cash provided by 
financing activities was $88.9 inillion, reflecting priinarily net increases in deposits and borrowings from the IHLR-NY partially 
orfsct by repurchases of Carver coiiiiiion stock and stock dividend payinelits. 

Off Balance Shcct Arrangements and Cniitractual Obligatinns 

The Hank is a party lo  tinanciiil instruments with ofT-balance shcet risk in the normal course of business in order to meet the 
flnancing needs of its customers. ‘These insti-urnents involve, to varying degrees, elenients of credit, interest rate and liquidity risk. In 
accordance with accounting priiiciplcs generally accepted in the IJnitcd States of Anierica (YihAP’)), thcsc instruments arc not 
recorded in the consolidated financial stateinents. Such instiiimcnts primarily includc lending cotnmilmcnts, 

Leiiding conimitments include commitments to oi-iginate mortgage and conwmcr loaiis and conimitments to fund unused lilies of 
credit. The I h k  also has contl-actual obligations rclatetl to operating leases. Additionally, the h n k  has a contingent liability related 
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to a standby ltttcr of credit. The Bank has outstanding commitments and contriictual obligations as follows: 

March 3 1. 
2005 2004 

(In thousands) 
Commitments to originate mortgage loans $44,129 $71,114 
Commitments to originate commercial and consumer loans 515 2,844 
Letters of credit 1,908 1,908 

Total $46,552 $ 75,866 ~ 

The following table prescnts the Bank’s contractual obligations at March 3 1,2005. 

Contractual 
Payments due by period 

Less than 1 - 3  3 - 5  More than 
Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years 

(In Thousands) 
Long tcrm debt obligations: 
FHLB advances $ 102,500 $ 34,840 $ 52,334 $ 15,107 $ 219 
Guaranteed prefcrred beneficial interest in 
junior subordinated debentures 12,799 12,799 

Total long tenn debt obligations 1 15,299 34,840 52,334 27,906 219 

Operating lease obligations: 
Lmse obligations for rental properties 4,300 630 1,092 1,167 1,41 I 

Total contractual obligations $ I10.599 $ 35,470 $ 53,426 $ 29,073 $ 1,630 

Regulatory Capital Position 

regulation, see “Iteni 1 -Regulation and Supervision-Fedcral Banking Regulation-Capital Requirements.” 
The Bank must satisfy three minimum capital standards established by the OTS. For a dcscription of the OTS capital 

The Rank presently exceeds all capital requircrnents as currently promulgated. At March 3 I ,  2005, the Bank had tangible, 
corc, and total risk-bascd capital ratios of 9.2%, 9.2% and 15.h%, respectively and was considercd well capitalized. 

The following table rcconciles the Rank’s stockholders’ cquity at March 31, 2005 under GAAP to rcgulatory capital 
requirements. 

Regulatory Capital Requirements 
GAAP Tangiblu Leverage Risk-Based 
Capital Capital c apit i l  Capital 

(in thousands) 

Stockholders’ Equity at March 31, 2005 (1 )  $ 57,449 $ 57,449 $ 57,449 $ 57,449 

Add: 

Deduct: 
Gcneral valuation allowances 

IJnrealizcd loss on securitics available-for-sale, net 
Goodwill and qualifying intangiblc assets 

Regulatory Capital 
Minimum Capital requirement 
Regulatory Capital Excess 

( 1 )  Reflects Bank only. 

I 27 

4,097 

235 235 235 

57,684 57,684 61,781 
9,404 25,078 3 1,670 

$ 48.280 !l 32.606 $ 30.1 1 I 



Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 

The financial statements and accompanying notcs appearing elsewhere herein have been preparcd in accordance with 
GAAP, which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical dollars without considering 
thc changes in the rclative purchasing power of nloney over time duc to intlation. The impact of inflation is reflected in the increased 
cost of Carver Federal’s operations. Unlike most industrial companies, nearly all the asscts and liabilities of the Bank are monetary in 
nature. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on Carver Fedcral’s performance than do the effects of the general level of 
intlation. Interest rates do not necessarily move in the s m c  direction or to the same extent as the prices o f  goods and services. 

28 



KPMG LLP 
345 Park Avenue 
NewYork, NY 10154 

Report o f  Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Carver Bancorp, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Carver Rancorp, Tnc. and subsidiaries 
(the “Company”) as of March 3 1,  2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity 
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year pcriod ended March 3 1,2005. These consolidated 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s rnanageincnt. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards established by thc Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and pcrforni the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidatcd financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as ii basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principlcs used and the significant cstirnates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidatcd financial statements refcrred to abovc present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of thc Company as of March 3 1, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash tlows for each o f  thc years in 
the three-year period ended March 3 1 ,  2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

KPMG LLP 
New Ynrk, Ncw York 
lune 24,2005 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSlDlAFUES 
C:ONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

(In thousands, except share data) 
March 31. 

2005 2004 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and due from banks 
Federal Funds sold 
Interest Faning Deposits 

Total cash and cash equivalents 
Securitics: 

Available-for-sale, at fair value (including pledged as collateral of $ I 12,503 at March 31, 2005 

Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost (including pledged as collateral of $30,900 at March 3 I ,  2005 
and $82,325 at Masch 3 I ,  2004 ) 

and 542,189 at March 3 I ,  2004; fair value of $3 I ,3 10 at March 3 1,2005 and $43,704 at 
March 3 1,2004 ) 
Total securities 

Loans receivable: 
Real estate mortgage loans 
Consumer and commercial business loans 
Allowance for loan losses 

Total loans reccivable, nct 
Office properties and equipincnt, net 
Federal Home Loan Bank ofNew York stock, at cost 
Accrued intercst receivablc 
Other asscts 

Total assets 

LIABI1,ITIES AND STOCKHOLDEKS' EQUITY 
liabilities: 

Deposits 
Advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York and other borrowed moncy 
Other liabilitics 

Total liabilities 
Stockholders' cquity: 

Preferred stock (par value %0.01 per sharc; 1,000,000 shares authorized; 0 issued and outstanding 

Common stock (par valuc $0.01 pcr share: I0,000,000 shares authorized; 2,524,691 and 
at M<arch 3 I ,  2005 and 100,000 issucd and outstanding at March 3 I ,  2004) 

2,3 16,358 sharcs issued at March 3 1,2005 and March 3 1, 2004, respcctively; 2,501,338 
and 2,285,267 outstanding at March 3 I ,  2005 arid March 3 I ,  2004, respectivcly) 

Additional paid-in capital 
KetdiIlCd earnings 
llnatnortized awards of common stock under ESOP and inanagement rccognition plan ("MRP") 
Treasury stock, at cost (23,353 shares at March 31,2005 and 31,001 at March 3 1, 2004) 
Accumulated other coinprchensive (loss) incomc 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Total stockholders' cquity 

Sce accompanying notcs to consolidated financial stritcments. 

$ 13,020 $ 11,574 
6,800 8,200 

600 3,000 
20,420 22,774 

11 8,033 96,403 

3 1,302 
140,335 

424,387 
1,697 

(4,097) 
421,9117 

13,658 
5,125 
2,702 

I 3,150 
$ 626,377 

43,474 
139,X77 

350,015 
6,0 10 

(4,125) 
35 1,900 

I 1,682 
4,57(1 
2,4Kr) 
5,532 

$ 53x,x30 

$ 453,454 $ 373,665 
1 15,2W 104,282 
1 1,823 16,238 

580,.576 494,185 

1 

25 23 
23,037 23,882 
22,748 20,892 

(254) (21) 
(420) (390) 
(235) 25X 

45,801 44,645 

$ 626,377 $ 538,830 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSCJIJDAI'ED STATEMENTS OF OPEKATIONS 

(In thousands, except pcr share data) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 
2003 2005 2004 

Interest income: 
Loans 
Mortgage-backed sccurities 
Investment securitics 
Federal funds sold 

Total interest income 

Interest expense: 
Deposits 
Advances and other borrowed money 
Total intcrcst expense 

Net intercst income 

Provision for loan losses 
Nct interest income aftcr provision for loan losses 

Non-interest income: 
Depository fees and chargcs 
Loan fees and service charges 
Gain on sale ofinvestmcnt securities 
Impairmcnt of securities 
Gain on salc of loans 
Gain on sale of fixcd assets 
Cfiant income 
Other 

Total non-intcrest incomc 

Non-interest cxpense: 
Cornpensation and hencfits 
Net occupancy expense 
Equipment 
Other 

Total non-intcrest expense 

Inconic before inconie laxes 

Net incomc 
Income taxes 

Dividends applicablc to pret'crrcd stock 

Net income available to cnmmon stockholders 

Earnings pcr common share: 
Basic 
Diluted 

See acconipanying notes to consolidatcd financial statemcnts. 
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$ 22,940 $ 20,117 
4,605 4,789 

827 1,161 
174 167 

28,546 26,234 

5,455 4,649 

9,758 8,700 
4,303 4,05 1 

18,788 17,534 

18,788 17,534 

2,212 1,925 
1,868 2,007 

94 31 

84 I16 
(1,547) 

2 
1,140 

224 597 
4,075 5,278 

9,46 I 7,587 
1,957 1,443 
1,608 1,486 
5,670 4,964 

18,696 Ij,480 

4,167 7,332 
1,518 2,493 

$ 2,649 $ 4,839 

$ 114 $ I97 

$ 2,535 $ 4,642 

$ 1.06 $ 2.03 
$ 1.03 $ 1.87 

$ 21,194 
4,282 
1,614 

300 
27,390 

5,760 
3,223 
8,9X3 

18.407 

18.407 

1,813 
1,341 

7 
3,101 

6,774 
1,26 1 
1,610 

14.704 
5,050 

- 
6,864 
3,033 

$ 3,831 

$ I97 

$ 3,634 

$ 1.59 
$ 1 .52 



CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBS1J)lARLES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE 1NCOME 

(In thousands) 
COMMON COMMON 

MCUMULATED OTHER STOCK STOCK 
PREPEKKED COMMON AUDII'IONAI. RRTAINEU 'I'REASIIRY COMPWHENSIVE ACQlJlREn BY ACQUIRED BY TOTAL STOCK- 

ESOP MRP HOLDERS' EQUITY STOCK INCOME (1.OSS) STOCK SlOCK PAID-IN CAPITAL EARNINGS 

Balance - March 31,2002 $1 $23 $23,156 S13,1Y4 ($138) $ 116 ($152) ($58) 36,742 

Comprehensive income: 

Change in net unrealiLcd gain on 
available-ror-sale securities, net 
of taxes 634 634 
Comprehensive income, net ot 
taxes: 4,465 

Dividends paid (313) (313) 

Purchase of treasury stock 5 (52) (47) 

Allocatioli o f  ESOP Stock 20 I52 172 

Purchase of shares for MRP 54 54 

Balnnce - March 31,2003 1 23 23,781 16,712 (190) 750 (4) 41,073 

Comprehensive income : 
Net income 4,839 4,839 
Change in net unreali7ed gain on 
available-for-sale sccuritics, net 
of taxes (402) (402) 

Coinprehensive income, net of 
taxes: 4,347 

Dividends paid ((159) (659) 

Treasury stock activity 82 (200) (118) 

Net income 3,831 3,831 

Allocation ofESOP Stock 
Purchase of shares for MFP 19 (17) 2 
BalanceMarch 31,2004 1 23 23,882 20,892 (BYO) 258 (21) 44,645 

Cornprchcnaive income : 
Net income 2,649 2,649 
Charigc in net unrealized gain on 
available-for-sale securities, net 

Comprehensive income, net of 
taxes: 2,156 

of taxes (403) (493) 

Dividends paid (793) (793) 
Prckrred stock redemption 0) 2 1 

Treasury slock activity 55 (30) 25 

Purchase o f  shares for ESOP (126) (126) 

Purchase of shares for MRP (107) ( 107) 

Balanc+-March 31,2005 3 - $ 25 $ 23,937 $ 22,748 (420) $ (235) $ (126) $ (128) $ 45,801 

See accompanying notes lo consolidatcd financial statements. 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SIJBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In Ihousdnds) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income 
.Adjustments to reconcile ne1 income to net cash provided 

by operating activities: 
Provision for loan losscs 
ESOP and MRP expcnse 
Dcpreciation and amortization expensc 
Amortization of intangible? 
Other amortization 
Impairment chargc on securities 
Gain froni sale of sccurities 
Gain on sale of loans 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
(Increase) dccrease in accrued interest receivable 
(Increase) dccrease in other assets 
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchases of securities: 

Available-for-salt 
Held-to-maturity 

Available-for-sale 
Held-to-maturity 

Proceeds from principal paymcnts, maturities and calls of securitics 

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale sccuritie! 
Disburscments for loan originations 
Loans purchased from third parties 
Principal collections on loans 
(Purchase) Redemption of FHLB-NY stock 
Proceeds from loans sold 
Additions to premises and equipment 

Net cash used in invcsling activities 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
Net increase in deposits 
Net proceeds from (repayment of) FHLB advances and 
other borrowed money 

Issuance of twst prefcrred securities, nct 
Common stock repurchased 
Dividends paid 

Net cash provided hy financing activities 
Nct (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalcnts at beginning of the period 
Cash and cash equivalents at cnd of the period 

Supplemental information: 
Noncash Transfers- 

Securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturit! 
Change in unrealized gain on valuation of available-for-salt 

investments, net 

Cash paid for- 
Jnterest 
Income taxes 

Year Ended March 3 I ,  
- 2005 -, 2004 2003 

$ 2,649 $ 4,839 $ 3,831 

358 
1,423 

1,502 
1.547 

(94) 

I28 25 1 
,146 1,224 
I78 213 

,848 48 1 

(31) 
(84) (116) 

(4,452) 3,481 (392) 
( 4 , ~ )  16,808 (1,046) 

(83,219) (58,477) (91,112) 
(19,859) (4,145) 

51,383 65,060 28,705 
11,996 12,693 6,578 
7,288 23,902 

(85,801) (87,140) (59,595) 
(104,734) (93,694) (42,260) 
112,602 111,937 96,432 

(549) 864 ( 1,677) 
8,127 9,474 2,453 

(3,399) (2,779) ( I ,  166) 
(86,306) (38,019) (65,787) 

79,789 26,501 22,210 

10,959 (17,455) 33,345 

(1,021) (303) ( 100) 
12,741 

(793) (659) (3131 
88,934 20,825 55,142 
(2.354) (386) (1 1.691) 
22,774 23,160 34,851' 

$ 20,420 16 22,774 $ 23,160 

$ - $  - $ 22,811 

(493) (492) 634 

$ 9,718 $ 8,739 $ 9,616 
2,395 2,825 3,106 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSTDlARIES 

I 

I 

Management believes that prepayment assumptions on mortgage-backed securities and mortgagc loans ate appropriate and 
the allowance for loan losses is adequate. While management uses available infomiation to recogniLe losses on loans, future 
additions to the allowancc for loan losses or future write downs of real estate owned may be necessary based on changes in economic 
conditions in the areas where Carver Federal hiid cxtended iiiortgages and othcr credit instruments. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FTNANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SlGNIFTCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of operations 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. (on a stand-alone basis, thc “Holding Company” or “Registrant”), was incorporated in May 1996 and 
its principal wholly owned subsidiary is Carver Federal Savings Bank (thc “Bank” or “Carvcr Federal”). Carver Statutory Trust 1 (the 
“Trust”) IS another wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. The Trust, which was forrncd in September 2003, exists for the 
sole purposc of issuing trust preferred debt sccurities and investing the procccds in an eyuivalcnt amount of subordinated debentures 
of the Holding Company. C‘FSI? Realty COT. and CFSR Credit Corp. are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Bank. CFSB Credit 
Corp. is currently inactive. The Bank owns a majority interest in Carver Asset Corporation, a real estate investment trust formed in 
February 2004. The Bank was chartered in I948 and began operations in I949 as C m c r  Federal Savings and Loan Association, a 
federally chartered mutual savings and loan association. The Bank convcrtcd to a federal savings bank in 1986 and changed its name 
at that time. On October 24, 1994, the Rank converted from mutual to stock form and issued 2,314,275 shares of its common stock, 
par value $0.01 per share. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed its reorganiLation into a holding company structure (the 
“Reorganization”) and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. In connection with thc ReorganiAon, each 
share of the Bank’s outstanding common stock was exchanged for one share of the Holding Company’s conmon stock, par value 
$0.01 per sharc. On January 11, 2000, the Holding Company sold in a private placement, pursuant to a Securities Purchase 
Agreement dated January 1 1 .  2000, 40,000 sharcs of Series A Convertible Prcfcrred Stock (thc “Series A Prefcrred Stock”) to 
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MSDW’) and 60,000 Shares of Scries B Convcrtiblc Preferred Stock (the “Series I? Preferred 
Stock”) to Provcnder Opportunities Fund L.P. (“Provender”). On June 1, 2004, Provender sold all 60,000 of its Senes B Preferred 
Stock to Keefe Bruyette & Woods, Inc ( “ D W ” ) .  On October 15, 2004, both MSDW and KBW elected to convert their Prcfcrred 
Shares into shares of Holding Company’s common stock, thus an additional 208,333 shares of common stock were issued to thcse 
parties. See Note 11  of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Collectively, the Holding Company, thc Bank and the 
Holding Company’s othcr direct and indirect subsidiaries are referred to herein as the “Company” or “Carver.” 

Carver Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposit accounts through its branch offices and investing those 
funds in mortgage loans and other invcstments perniitted by federal savings banks. The Bank has eight branches located throughout 
thc City o f  New York that primarily serve the communitics in which they operate. 

Basis of consolidated financial statement presentation 

Thc consolidated financial statemcnts include the accounts of the Holding Company, Carver Statutory Trust 1, the Bank and 
the Bank’s wholly owned or majority owned subsidiaries, Carver Asset Corporation, CFSB Realty Corp. and CFSB Crcdit COT. All 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have bcen eliminated in  consolidation. 

Thc consolidated financial statements have bcen prepared in conformiiy with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In  preparing the consolidated tinancial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the rcported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated statcment of financial condition 
and revenues and expcnses for the period then endcd. Estimatcs that are particularly susceptible to signiiicitnt changes in the near- 
term relate to prepayment assumptions on mortgage-backed securities and mortgagc loans, the dctcrmination of the allowance for 
loan losses and, if applicable, the valuation of real estate owned. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates. 

In addition, the Office of Thrift supervision (“OTS”) our regulator, as an integral part of its examination process, 
periodically rcvicws Carver Federal’s allowance for loan losses i d ,  if applicable, real estate owned valuations. The OTS may 
require Carver bcdcral to recognize additions to the allowance for loan losses or additional write downs ofreal estate owned based on 
their jutlgiiicnts about information available to them at the time of tlicir exainindtion. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and amounts duc from depository institutions and federal funds sold which are 
generally sold for one-day periods. The amounts due from depository institutions include a non-interest bearing account held at the 
Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”) where any additional cash reserve required on deinand deposits would be maintained. Currently, this 
reservc requirement is zero since the Bank’s vault cash satisfies cash reserve requireincnts for deposits. 
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Securities 

The Bank does not have trading securities but does differentiate between held-to-maturity sccurities and available-for-sale 
securities. When purchased, securities are classified in either the securities held-to-maturity portfolio or securities available-for-sale 
portfolio. Securities should be classitied hcld-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost only if the Bank has a positive intent and 
ability to hold such securities to maturity. If not classified as held-to-maturity, such securities are classified as securities available- 
for-sale demonstrating management’s ability to sell in response to actual or anticipated changes in interest rdtcs and resulting 
prepaymcnt risk or any othcr factors. Availablc-for-sale sccurities arc reported at fair value. Unrealized holding gains or losscs for 
securities available-for-sale arc to be excluded from earnings and reported net or deferred income taxes as a separate component of 
accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, ii coriiponent of Stockholders’ Equity. Any iiiipairment in the available-for-salc 
securities deemcd other-than-temporary, i s  written down against the cost basis and charged to earnings. During the twelve month 
period ended March 3 I ,  2005, Chrver recorded a $1.5 million charge to earnings for impairment in available-for-sale securities 
dcemed other-than-tcmporary on the 150,OOO shares o f  Indcpendencc Federal Savings Bank coninion stock (“IFSR”) that it held in 
portfolio. 

Securities held-to-maturity are carried at cost, adjusted for the amortization of premiums and the accretion of discounts 
using thc level-yicld method over the remaining period until maturity. 

Gains or losses on sales of securities of all classifications arc rccognived based on the specific identification method. 

Loans Receivable 

Loans receivable are carried at unpaid principal balances plus unarnortizcd premiums and certain deferred direct loan 
origination cosls, lcss the allowance for loan losses and deferred Loan fees and discounts. 

‘The Rank defers loan origination Tees and certain direct loan origination costb and accretes such aniounts as an adjustment of 
yield over the expected lives of the related loans using methodologies which approximatc the interest method. Preniiuiiis and 
discounts on loans purchased iire amortized or accreted as an  adjustment of yield over the contractual lives, adjusted for prepayments 
when applicablc, of the related loans using rnethotlologiec which approximate the intcrcst method. 

Loans iirc generally placed on non-accrual status when they are past due 90 days or more as to contractual obligations or 
when other circumstances indicate that collection is questionable. When a lorin is placed on non-accrual status, any interest accrued 
but not received is reversed against interest income. Payments received on ii non-accrual loan are either applied to the outstanding 
principal balance or recorded :is interest income, depending on an assessment of the ability to collect the loan. A nun-accrual loan IS  

rcstored to accrual status when principal and inteicst payments beconic lcss than 90 days past due and its future collcctibility is 
reasonably assured. 

Allowance for Loan Losses 

An allowance for loan losscs is maintained itt a level considered adequate to provide for potcntial loan losses. Management 
is responsible for detcrminiiig the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the pcriodic provisioning for estimated losses 
inc.lnded in the consolidated financial statements. The evaluation proccss is tindeltaken on a quarterly basis, hut may increase in 
frequency should conditions arise that would require nianagcment’s prompt attcntion, such a s  business coinbinations and 
opportunities to dispose of non-performing and iiiarginally pertimiling loans by bulk sale or any development which may indicate an 
adverse trend. 

Carver Fedcral maintains a loan rcview system, which allows for a pcriodic rcview of its loan portfolio and Ihc early 
identification of potential problem loans. Such system takes into consideration, among other things, delinquency status, size or loans, 
type or collateral and financial condition of the borrowers. Loan loss allowances ai-c cstablislied for problem loans based on a review 
of such inroriiiation and/or appraisids of the underlying collateral. On the remainder of its loan portfolio, loan loss allowances are 
based upon a combination of kictors including, but not limited to, actual loan loss cxperiencc, composition of loan poiztiolio, current 
economic conditions and management’s j udgnient. Although nianageinent believes that adequatc loan loss allowanccs have been 
cstahlishcd, actual losses are dupendent upon future events and, as such, further additions to the levcl of the loan loss allowance may 
be necessary in the future. 

‘I’hc methodology eiiiployed for assessing thc appropriatencss of lhc allowance consists of the following criteria: 

Establishniciit of rescrve amounts for all specifically identi lied criticized loans that have bcen designated as 
I-cquirinp uttention by inanagzmcnt’s internal loan review program, hank regulatory cxaminations or the cxternal 
auditors. 

An avcrage loss factor, giving effect to historical loss expericnce over several years and linked to cyclical trends, i s  
applied to snialler bdance homogenous types of loans not subject to spccitk review. Thcsc loans include 
1-csidential onc- to four-family, multifamily, nonresidential arid construction loans and also include consumer and 

0 
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business loans. 

Recognition is also given to the changed risk profile brought about by busincss combinations, customer knowledge, the 
results or ongoing credit quality monitoring processes and the cyclical nature of economic and business conditions. An important 
consideration in applying these methodologies is the concentration of real estate reliitcd loans located in the New York City 
metropolitan area. 

The initial allocation or specific-allowance methodology commences with loan officers and underwriters grading the quality 
of their loans on an eight-category rrsk classification scale. Loans identified from this process as below investment gradc are referred 
to the Internal Asset Review Committee for further analysis and identification of those factors that rnay ultimately affect the full 
recovery or collcctibility o f  principal and/or intercst. These loans arc subject to continuous review and monitoring while they remain 
in the criticifed catcgory. Additionally, the Internal Asset Review Committee is responsible for performing periodic reviews of the 
loan portfolio thal are independent from the identification process employed by loan orficers and underwriters. Gradings that fall 
into criticized categories are further evaluated and reservc amounts are established for each loan. 

Thc second allocation or loss factor approach to coininon or homogeneous loans is made by applying the average loss factor 
bascd on several years of loss experience to the outstanding balanccs in each loan catcgory. It gives recognition to the loss 
experience of acquired businesses, busincss cycle changcs and the real estate components or loans. Since many loans depend upon 
the sufficiency of collateral, any adverse trcnd in the real estatc markets could seriously affect underlying values available to protect 
against loss. 

Other evidence used to support the amount of the allowance and its components are as follows: 

Regulatory examinations 

Actual losscs 

Amount and trend ofcriticized loans 

Peer comparisons with other financial institutions 

Economic data associated with thc real estate market in the Company’s market area 

Opportunities to dispose of marginally performing loans for cash consideration 

A loan is considered to be impaired, as defined by Statement of E’inrmcial Accounting Standards (“SEAS”) No. 114, 
“Accornnting hy C7redirors for hpairmenl  of u Loan ” (“SFAS 114”), when it is probable that Carver Federal will he unablc to collect 
all principal and interest amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Carver Federal tests loans covered 
under SFAS 114 for impainiicnt if they arc on non-accrual status or have bccn restructured. Consumer credit non-accrual loans arc 
not tested for impairment becausc they are included In large groups of smaller-balance homogeneous loans that, by dcfinition along 
with leases, are excludcd from the scope of SFAS 114. lmpaired loans are required to bc measured based upon the present value of 
expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan’s initial effective iiitcrcst rate, or at the loan’s market pricc or fair value of the 
collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. If the loan valuation is less than the recorded valuc of the loan, an impairment rcscrve 
must be establishcd for the difference. The impairment reservc is established by either an allocation of the reserve for credit losses or 
by a provision for credit losses, depending on various circumstances. ltnpairnicnt reserves are not needed when credit losses havc 
been recorded so that thc recorded investment in an impaired loan is Icss than the loan valuation. 

Concentrativn of Risk 

The Rank’s principal lending activities are concentretcd in loans secured by real estate, a substantial portion of which is 
located in the State of New York. Accordingly, the ultimate collectibility of a substantial portion of the Company’s loan portfolio is 
susceptible to changes in Ncw York’s real estate market conditions. 

Premises and Equipment 

Premises and equipment are coiiipriscd of land, at cost, and buildings, building improvements, furnishings and equipment 
and lcasehold iniprovcments, at cost, less accuiiiulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and ainortization charges are 
coiiiputcd using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and improvcments 
Furnishings and equipment 
Leasehold improvements 

10 to 25 years 
3 to 5 years 
Lesser of usefid life or rcinaining term of lease 

Maintenance, repairs and minor iiiiprovenients arc charged to non-interest expeiisc in the period incurred. 

36 



Bank Owned Life Insurance 

Bank Owned Life Insurance (“BOLI”) i s  carried at its cash surrender value on the balance sheet and is classified as a non- 
interest-earning asset. Returns on the BOLl assets are added to the carrying value and included as non-intcrest income in the 
consolidated statement of operations. Any receipt of benefit proceeds is recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of the BOLT 
asset. 

Mortgage Servicing Rghts (MSR) 

Mortgage servicing rights (“MSR”) on mortgage loans are recognized at the sale of mortgage loans where servicing rights 
are retained. At recognition, this asset is recorded onto the balance sheet as a non-interest-earning asset. The initial recognition of 
MSR is based on the fair value of total estimated income from the scrvicing of these loans. The assct is then amortized over the 
estinyitted life of the serviced loans. 

Real Estate Owned 

Real estate acquired by foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure is recorded at the fair value at the date of acquisition and 
thereitfter carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated selling costs. The fair value of such assets is determined based 
primarily upon independent appraisals and other relevant factors. The mounts ultimately recoverable rroni real estate owned could 
differ rrom the net carrying value of these properties because of cconornic conditions. 

Costs incurred to improve properties or prepare them for sale are capitalid.  Revenues and expenses relatcd to the holding 
and operating ofproperties arc recognizcd in operations as earncd or incurred. Gains or losses on sale of properties are recognized as 
incurred. At March 3 1,2005, the Bank had no foreclosed real estate, however as a result of a property tax redemption, the Rank took 
fee ownership o fa  vacant tract of land in Bayshore, NY. 

Identifiable Intangible Asscts 

Carver Federal adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (“SFAS No. 142”), “Goodwill and Other 
fntangible Assets ” on January 1, 2002. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indetinite useful lives no longer be 
amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. 

Identifiable intangible assets relate primarily to core dcposit premiums, resulting from the valuation of core deposit 
intangibles acquired in the purchase of two branch offices. These identifiable intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line 
method over pcriods not exceeding the estimated average remaining life of the existing customer deposits acquired. Amortization 
periods range from 5 to 15 years. Amortization pcriods for intangible assets are monitored to deterniine if events and circumstances 
require such periods to be reduced. 

At March 3 1 ,  2005 C’arver had no goodwill or identifiable intangible assets on its books. 

Income Taxes 

Carver Fcderal accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Temporary differcnces between the basis of 
assets itnd liabilities for financial reporting and lax purposes are measured as of the balance sheet date. Deferred tax liabilities or 
recognizable deferrcd tax assets are calculated on such differences, using current statutory rates, which result in future taxable or 
deductible amounts. ‘The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is rccognized in income in the period that includes the 
enactment date. 

Impairment 

The Company itnnually evaluates long-lived assets, certain identifiable intangibles, deferred cost and goodwill for indication 
of impairment in value. There was no impairment on these assets for the past thrcc years. When required, asset impairment will be 
recorded as an cxpense in the current period. 

Earnings (loss) per Common Share 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted- 
average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS includes any additional common shares as if all potentially dilutivc 
common shares were issued (e.g. convertible preferred stock). For thc purpose of these calculations, unrcleased shares of thc Carver 
Federal Savings Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“FSOP’) are not considered to be outstanding. 
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Treasury Stock 

Trcasury stock is recorded at cost and is prescnted as a reduction of stockholders’ equity. 

Pension Plans 

In February 1998, the FASU issued SFAS No. 132, “Ernplo,vprs ’ Disdosurev uboint Pensions und 0lhL.r Postretirement 
BeneJi1.v ’’ (“SFAS 132”). SFAS 132 revises cmployers’ disclosures about pension and other postretirement benefit plans. It does not 
change the measurement or recognition of those plans. Carver Federitl has made the required disclosures in the accompanying Notcv 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Stock-Based compensation Plans 

Compensation expense is recognized for thc Bank’s ESOP equal to the fair valuc of shares committed to be rclcased for 
allocation to participant accounts. Any difference betwcen the fair value at that time and the ESOP’s original acquisition cost is 
charged or crcditcd to stockholders’ equity (additional paid-in capital). The cost of unallocatcd ESOP shares (shares not yet 
coiniiiitted to be releascd) is reflectcd as a reduction of stockholders’ equity. 

Thc Holding Company accounts for its stock option plan (“Stock Option Plan”) in accordance with Accounting Principles 
Board (“APR”) Opinion No. 25, Accozintingfor Stock Ixsued to Employees. Accordingly, compensation cxpense is rccognized only if 
the exercise price or the option i s  less than the fair value of the underlying stock at the grant date. SFAS 123, “Accounting,for Stock- 
B~1sed Cornpensiltion ” (“SFAS 123 ”), encourages entitics to recognize the fair value of all stock-based awards (measured on the grant 
date) as compensation expense over the vesting period. Alternatively, SFAS 123 allows entities to apply the provisions of APB 
Opinion No. 25 and provide pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair-value-based method dcfined in 
SFAS 123 had been applied. The Holding Conipany has elected to apply the provisions of APE Opinion No. 25 and provide these 
pro fornia disclosures. 

The Holding Company’s management recognition and rctcntion plan (“MKP”) is also accountcd for in accordance with APB 
Opinion No. 25. The fair value OF the shares awarded, measured at thc grant date, i s  recognized as uncrtrned compensation (a 
deduction from stockholders’ equity) and amortized 10 compensation expense as the shares become vested. When MRP shares 
become vested, the Company records a credit to additional paid-in capital for lax bcncfits attributable to any MI* rlcductions in 
excess of the grant-date fair value charged to expense, for financial reporting purposes. 

Carver Federal applies APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting .fi)r S t o c k  Issued to Employees, ” and related interpretations in 
accounting for our stock-based Plan under which there i s  no charge to earnings for stock option awitrds and the dilutive effect of 
outsbanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 
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Alternatively, Carver Federal could have accounted for its Stock Option Plan undcr SFAS 123, under which compensation 
cost for stock option awards would be calculated and recognized over the service period (generally equal lo the vesting period). The 
following table illustrates net income and earnings per common share pro forma results with the application of SFAS 123 for Carver’s 
Stock Option Plan, for the years ended March 31: 

2005 2004 2003 
(Dollars in thousands, except per sharc data) 

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders: 
As reported $2,535 $4,642 $3,634 

Total stock-basod ernploycc cornpensation expensc 
determined under fair value bascd methods for 
all awards, net of related tax effects 

Pro fonna 
(124) (1 58) (88) 

$ 2,411 $ 4,484 $ 3,546 

Basic carnings (loss) per share: 
As reported 
Pro forma 

$1.06 $2.03 $1.59 
1.01 1.96 1 .s5 

Diluted earnings (loss) pcr share: 
As reported 
Pro forma 

$1.03 $1 .X7 $1.52 
0.98 1.81 1.48 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 2,381,980 2,283,802 2,290,934 

The fair value of the option grants wiis estimated on the date of the grant using the Rleck-Scholes option pricing model 
applying the following weightcd average assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 3.50%, 2.50% and 2.50%, for the relevant tiscal years 
ended March 3 I ,  2005, 2004 and 2003 (“fiscal 2005”, “fiscal 2004” and “fiscal 2003”), respectivcly; volatility of 35% for fiscal 2005 
and 45% fiscal 2004 and 40% fiscal 2003; expected dividend yield was calculated using annual dividends of $0.28 per sharc for tiscal 
2005 and $0.20 for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003; and an expected litk of seven years for employees and directors option grants. 

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASR”) issued Stateiiicnt No. 123 (revised) “Arcnunling 
for Stock Rased C‘ompisution, Shure Bused Pqvment ”, (“SFAS 123R”) which replaces the guidance prescribed in SFAS 123. SFAS 
123K requires that compensation cost relating to share--based paynicnt transactions be recognized in the financial statements. The 
associaltcd costs will bc measured based on thc fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. SFAS 123R covers a wide 
range of share-based compensation arrangemcnts including share options, restricted share plans, performance-based awards, share 
appreciation rights and employee sharc purchase plans. SFAS 123R i s  effective as of the first interim or annual reporting period 
beginning after June 15, 2005. Carver Federal will adopt SFAS 123R as of April 1, 2006. WAS 123R applies to all awards granted 
after thc required effcctive date and to awards niodificd, repurchased or caiicelled after that date. Additionally, beginning on the 
required effective date, public entities will recognize compensation cost for the portion o f  outstanding awards for which the requisite 
service has not yet been rendered, based on the grants-date fair value of those awards calculated under SFAS 123 for either 
recognition or pro forma disclosures. The cumulative effect of initially applying SFAS 123Ti, if any, is recognized as of the required 
cffective date. For period before the rcquired effective dale, public entities may elect, although they are not required, to retroactively 
rcstate tinancial statements for prior periods to recognize cornpensation cost on a bitsis consistent with the pro forma disclosures 
required for those periods by SPAS 123. Managenient has riot yet made a deteniiination on thc transition method that will be applied 
upon adoption of SFAS 123R. liowever, the impact of adoption regardless of the transition method choscn is expectcd to be a 
reduction in net incoiiie coinparable to that shown in the previous table disclosing 2005 pro forma effects of SFAS 123. 

Keclassificatiuns 

C’ertain amounts in the consolidated financial statements presented for prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current 
year presentation. 
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NOTE 2. SECURITIES 

The following is a summary of securities at March 3 1 ,  2005: I 

Available-for-Salc: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 
Pass-through certificates: 
Governmcnt National Mortgage Association 
Federal Home Loan Mortgagc Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 
Total mortgagc-backed securities 

Equity Securities 
U.S. Govcrnment Agency Securities 

Total available-for-sale 
Held-to-M aturity: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 
Pass-through certificates: 
Government National Mortgage Association 
Fcderal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 
Smal I Business hdrni n istration 
Total mortgage-backcd securities 

I J S .  Ciovernincnt Agency Sccurities 
Total held-to-maturity 
Total securities 

C - 
Amortized Estimated 

cost Gains Losses Fair-Value 
(Tn thousands) 

$ 83,861 $ 98 $ (534) $ 83,425 
3,922 14 (28) 3,908 
8,247 17 (115) 8,149 

96,030 129 (677) 95,482 
1,575 1,575 

21.144 (168) 20.976 ~ 

1 18,749 129 (845) 118,033 

1,070 59 1,129 

337 -2 335 

18,779 32 (71) 18,740 
11,116 110 (120) 11,106 

3 1,302 20 1 (193) 31,310 

31,302 201 (193) 31,310 
$ 150,051 $ 330 $ (1,038) $149,343 

The following is a mminiitry of securities itt March 3 I ,  2004: 
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Gross Unrealized 
Amortized Estimated 

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 
(In thousands) 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgagc-backed securities: 

Pass-through ccrtificates: 
Government National Mortgage Association 
Fedcral Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 
Total mortgage-backed securities 

Equity Securities 
U.S. Govcmment hgcncy Securitics 

Total avai lable-lbr-sale 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities: 
Pass-through certificates: 

tioveminent National Mortgage Association 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 
Small Business Administration 

U.S. Governmcnt Agency Sccurities 
Total mortgage-backed securities 

Total held-to-maturity 
Total sccurities 

$ 55,703 $ 169 $ (360) $ 55,512 
6,753 52  (93) 6,712 

12,657 47 (78) 12,626 
75,113 268 (531) 74,850 

48 10 58 
21,200 296 (1) 21,495 
96,36 I 5 74 (532) 96,403 

1,465 96 1,56 1 
2 1,305 362 (1) 21,666 
20,386 94 (234) 20,246 

318 3 32 1 
43,474 555 (235) 43,794 

43,474 555 (235) 43,794 
$139.835 $ 1.129 $ (7671 $140.197 

I ,  

The net unrealized loss on available-for-sale sccurities was $716,000 ($444,000 aftcr taxes) iit March 31, 2005 as 
compared to m unrealized gain of $42,000 ($26,000 after taxes) at March 31, 2004. On November 30, 2002 thc Bank transfcrred 
$22.8 million of mortgage-backcd securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity as a result of management’s intcntion to hold 
these securities in portfolio until maturity. A related unrealized gain of $468,000 was recorded as a separate component of 
stockholders’ equity md is being amortized over the remaining lives of the securities as an adjustrncnt to yield. As of March 3 I ,  2005 
thc carrying value of ihesc securities is $17.3 million and a relatcd net unrealized gain of $209,000 (net of amortization) continues to 
be reported. Changes in unrealized holding gains and losses between fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 resulted in an after-tax decrcase in 
stockholders’ equity of $493,000. These gains and losses will continue to fluctuate based on changcs in the portfolio and market 
conditions. 

Sales of available-for-sale securities resulted in gross realized gains during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 of $94,000 and 
$3 1,000, respectively. There were no salcs of securities in tiscal2003. 

At March 3 1, 2005 the Bank pledged securities or  $34.1 million Lis collateral for advanccs from the Fcderal Homc Loan 
Bank of New York (“FHLB-NY”). 

The following is a summary of the carrying value (amortized cost) and fair value of securities at March 31, 2005, by 
remaining period to contractual maturity (ignoring oarlier call dates, if any). Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities 
because certain security issuers have the right to call or prepay their obligations. 
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Available-for-sale : 
Less than one year 
One through five years 
Five through ten years 
After ten ycars 

Hcld-to-maturity: 
Less than one year 
One through five years 
Five through tcn years 
After ten years 

Amortized Fair 
cost Value 

(In thousands) 

$ 10,369 r6 10,354 
12,927 12,793 

1,839 1,827 
93,614 93,059 

$ 118,749 $ I 18,033 

99 102 

3 1,203 3 1,208 
$ 31,302 $ 31,310 

The unrealiLed losscs and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at March 3 I ,  2005 for less than 12 months 
and 12 months or longer wcrc as follows: 

Less than 12 months Total 
Unrealted Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value Losses Value Losses Value 
(In thousands) 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities r6 (225) $ 42,625 $ (452) $ 27,522 $ (677) $ 70,147 
U.S. Government Agcncy Securities (168) 20,976 (168) 20,976 

Total available-for-sale (393) 63,601 (452) 27,522 (845) 91,123 
I 
~ Held-to-Maturity : 

Mortgage-backed securitics (3) 1.186 (190) 10,475 (193) 11,661 
Total securities $ (396) $ 64,787 $ (642) $ 37,997 $ (1,038) $ 102,784 

The unrcalized losses and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at March 31, 2004 for less than 12 months and 12 
months or longer were as follows: 

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total 
unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value Losses Value Losses Value 
(in thousands) 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backcd securities $ (342) $ 32,035 $ (189) $ 15,220 $ (531) $ 47,255 
US. Govemiicnt Agency Securities (1) 6,394 (1) 6,394 
Total available-for-sale (343) 38,429 (189) 15,220 (532) 53,649 

Held-tu-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities (226) I7,95 1 (9) 1,379 (235) 19,330 

Total securities $ (569) $ 56,380 $ (19X) $ 16,599 $ (767) $ 72,979 

A total o f  33 securities had an unrealized loss at March 3 I ,  2005. Based on estimated fair valuc, all the securities in an 
unrealized loss posltlon were United States govcrmnent agency-backcd securities, which represents 68.8% and 52. I Oh of total 
securities at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Thc cause of the temporary impairment is directly related to thc change in 
intcrcst rates. Tn general, a s  interest rates risc, the fair value of securities will decline, and conversely as intcrcst rates decline, thc fair 
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value orsccurities will increase. Management considers fluctuations in fair value as a result of interest rate changes to be temporary, 
which is consistent with the Rank’s expcrience. The impairments arc deemed temporary based 011 the direct relationship of the 
decline in fair value to movements in interest rates, the life of thc investments and their high credit quality. 

NOTE 3. LOANS RECETVABLE, NET 

A summary of loans receivablc, net follows: 

March 31. 

Real estate loans: 
One- to four-family 
Multifainily 
No~rcsidential 
Construction 

Consunicr and business 
Total gross loans 

Add: 
Premium on loans 
Less: 
Defcrred fees and loan discounts 
Allowance Tor loan Losses 
Total 

2005 2004 
Amount Percent Amount Percent 

(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 155,797 3h.69 ?h $ 98,645 27.80 ‘%I 

116.769 27.49 102,641 28.92 
48,579 11.43 27,376 7.7 I 

1,691 0.40 6,O I O  1.69 

101,899 23.99 120,252 33.88 

424,74 1 100.00 %I 354,924 100.00 ‘X 

1,743 1,264 

At March 3 1 ,  2005, 78.6% of the Company’s real estate loans receivablc were principally secured by propcrties locatcd in 
the State of New York. 

The mortgage loan portfolios serviced for Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) are not included in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Thc unpaid principal balances of lhese loans aggregatcd $ 1  7.9 million, $ I  I .7 
inillion and $4.1 million at March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Custodial escrow balanccs, maintained in connection with 
the above-mentioned loan servicing, wcre approximately $56,000, $40,000 and $16,000 at March 3 I ,  2005, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. During the year cnded March 31, 2005 thc Bank sold $8.0 millron in loans with a rccogrirzed gain of $X4,000, as 
coinpared to $9.4 million in loans sold during fiscal 2004 with a $1 16,000 gain recognized. 

At March 31, 2005 thc Bank pledged $144.3 million in total mortgage loans as collateral Tor borrowings from the FHLS- 
NY. 

‘The following i s  an analysis of the allowance for loan losses: 

Ycar ended March 3 1, 
2005 2004 2003 

Ralitnce at beginning of the year $ 4,125 $ 4,158 $ 4, I28 
Provision charged to operations 
Recoveries or amounts previously charged-off 45 292 258 
Charge-offs of loans (73) (325) (228) 

Balance at ending of the year $ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 

Non-accrual loans consist of loans for which the accrual of interest has been discounted as a result of such loans becoming 
90 days or more delinquent as to principal and/or interest payincnts. htcrest income on non-accrual loans is recnrdcd when received. 
Restructured loans consist of loans where borrowers have been granted concessions i n  regards to the ternis of their loans due to 
financial or othcr difticulties, which rendered them unablc to repay their 10x1s under the original contritctual tenm. 

At March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the recorded investment in impaired loans was $998,000, $2.1 million and $ l . X  million, 
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respectively, all of which represented non-accrual loans. Thc related allowance for crcdit losses was approximately $1 60,000, 
$317,000 and $195,000 at March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectivcly. The impaired loan portfolio is primarily collateral 
dependent. The average recordcd investment in impaired loans during the fiscal years cnded March 31. 2005, 2004 and 2003 was 
approximately $1.6 million, $2.0 million and $1.8 million, respectivcly. For the tiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
the Company did not recognize any interest incomc on these impaired loans. Interest income or $83,000, $ IX5,OOO and $173,000, 
respectively, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 would havc been recorded on impaired loans had they 
performcd in accordance with thcir original contract. 

At March 31,2005, 2004 and 2003, thcre were no loans to officers or directors. 

NOTE 4. PREMISES ANI) EQUIPMENT, NET 

The detail orpremiscs and equipment i s  as follows: 

March 31, 
2005 2004 

Land 
Building and improvements 
Leasehold improvements 
Furniture and Equipment 

(In thousands) 
$ 415 $ 415 

9, I95 8,838 
3,939 1,976 
7,734 6,655 

21,283 17,884 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 7,625 6,202 

$ 13,658 $ 11,682 

Depreciation and amortization charged to opcrations for the fiscal years cnded March 3 1 ,  2005, 2004 and 2003 arnountcd to 
$1.4 million, $ 1 .  I million and $1.2 million, respectively. 

NOTE 5. ACCRUED INTEKEST RECEIVABLE 

Thc detail of’accrued intcrest receivable is as follows: 

March 31. 

Loans receivable 
Mortgage-backed securitios 
Invcstrnents and other intcrest bearing assets 
Total accrued interest receivable 

2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

$ 1,895 $ 1,683 
576 580 
23 1 226 

$ 2,702 $ 2,489 

NOTE 6. DEPOSITS 

Deposit balances and weighted average stated interest rates at March 3 I follow: 

200s 2004 
Pcrccnt of Percent of 

Total Weighted Total Weighted 
Amount Deposits Avcrage Rate Amount Deposits Avcragc Rate 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Nnn-interest -bearing deinand $ 25,570 5.6 %I - Yo $ 20,966 5.6 Yo - %  

NOW dcmand 24.095 5.3 0.30 22-67 I 6.0 0.30 
Savings and clubs 137.810 30.4 0.62 13 1,120 35.1 0.60 
Money Markct saving< 36,294 8.0 I .34 30,842 8.3 0.74 
CMiifrca tes of deposit 229,685 50.7 2.30 168,066 45.0 1.97 

Total $ 453,454 100.0 % 1.48 u/u $ 373,665 100.0 o/;r 1.18 % 
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Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit follow: 

March 31, 
2005 2004 

(In thousands) 
Certificates of deposit by remaining 
term to contractual maturity: 

Within one year $ 186,585 $ 127,739 
After one but within two years 13,412 15,817 
Aflcr two but within thrcc years 8,512 6,573 
After thrce years 21,176 17,937 

Total $ 229,685 $ 168,066 

The aggregate amount of certificates of dcposit with minimum denominations of $100,000 or more was approximately 
$1 6 I .7 million at March 3 1,2005 compared to $104.3 million at March 3 1,2004. 

Interest expense on deposits for the ycars ended March 3 1 follows: 

200s 2004 2003 
(In thousands) 

NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certificates of deposit 

Mortgagors dcposits 
Penalty for early withdrawal of 

ccrtificates of deposit 
Total interest cxpense 

$ 69 $ 85 $ 131 
XI 1 1,000 1,477 
3 02 235 189 

4,258 3,316 3,975 
5,440 4,636 5,772 

25 24 

NOTE 7. BORROWED MONEY 

Fr:derul HomP Loun Bank Advunres. FHLB-NY advances and weighted average intcrcst rates by remaining period to 
maturity at March 3 1 follow: 

2005 2004 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Maturing 
Year Ended 
March 31, 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2012 

Weighted Weighted 
Amount Average Rate Amount 

- % $  - 4.05 Yo $ 26,000 
3.41 3 4,840 3.46 32,840 
4.2 1 36,134 4.42 28,134 
3.65 16,200 3.49 3,300 
3.78 15,107 2.86 1,000 
3.50 219 3.50 242 
3.78 % s102.500 3.92 % $ 91.516 

As a member o f  the FHLB-NY, the Bank may have outstanding FHLB-NY borrowings in a combination of term advanccs 
and overnight funds ofup  to 25% of its total assets, or approximately $156.6 million at March 31, 2005. Borrowings are secured by 
the Bank’s investment in FHLB-NY stock and by a blanket security agreement. This iigrccment requires thc k i n k  to mainlain as 
collateral certain qualifying assets (principally mortgage loans and securities) not otherwise plcdged. At March 3 1, 2005, advances 
were secured by pledges of the Bank’s investment in the capital stock of the FHLB-NY totaling $5.1 million and a blanket assignmcnt 
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of the Rank’s unpledged qualifying mortgage loans o f  $144.3 million and mortgage-backcd and investment securities of $34. I 
million. lncluded in the total assets held at the FHLB-NY as collateral for borrowings is excess borrowing capacity of $60.9 million. 

Serwrities Sold {Jndw Agrwments to Rrpurchusc.. In securities sold under agreements to repurchase, the Bank borrows 
funds through the transfer of debt sccurities to thc FHLB-NY, as counterparty, and concurrently agrces to repurchasc the identical 
securities at a fixed price on a specified date. Repurchase agreements are collateralized by the securitics sold and, in certain cases, by 
additional margin securitics. At March 3 1, 2005 and 2004 there were no sccurities sold under agreements to rcpurchase outstanding. 

Subordinated Debt Securities. On September 17, 2003, Carver Statutory Trust I, issued 13,000 shares, liquidation amount 
$1,000 pcr share, o f  floating rate capital sccurities. Gross proceeds rrom the sale of these trust preferred debt securities werc $13.0 
million, and, together with the proceeds froin the sale of thc trust’s comnon securities, werc used to purchase approximately $13.4 
million aggregate principal amount of the Holding Company‘s floating rate junior subordinated debt securities due 2033. The trust 
preferred debt sccurities are redccmable quarterly at the option of the Company beginning on or after July 7, 2007 and have a 
mandatory redemption date of September 17, 2033. Cash distributions on the trust preferred debt securities arc cumulative and 
payable at ii floating rate per m u m  resetting quarterly with :I margin of 3.05% over the three-month LIBOR. At March 3 1 2005 rind 
2004 the rate paid on these trust preferred debt sccurities was 6.08% and 4.16%, respectively. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding Carver Federal’s borrowings at the dates and for the periods 
indicated: 

At or for the Year Ended 
March 31, 

200s 2004 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Amounts outstanding at the end ofperiod: 
PHLB-NY advances $ 102,500 
Guaranteed preferrcd beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 12,799 
Loan for employee stock ownership plan 

Rate paid at pcriod end: 
FHLB-NY advances 
Ciuarantccd preferred bencficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 
Loan for employee stock owncrship plan 

3.78% 
6.08% 

Maximum amount of borrowing outstanding at any month end: 
FHLB-NY advances $ 112,506 
Guarantecd prcferred bencficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 12,799 
Loan for employee stock owncrship plan 25 

Approximate averagc amounts outstanding for pcriod: 
FHLB-NY advances $ 97,013 
Guaranteed prefewcd beneficial intcrest in junior subordinated debentures 12,768 
Loan for employee stock ownership plan 6 

ipproxirnate weightcd average ratc paid during pcriod ( 1): 
FIILB-NY advances 3.71% 
Guaranteed preferred bcneficial interost in junior subordinated debbcntures 5.490/0 
Loan for cmployee stock ownership plan 3.86% 

1) The approximatc weighted averagc rate paid during the period was computed hy dividing the averagc 
amounts outstanding into the related interest expensc for the period 

$ 91,516 
12,74 1 

25 

3.92% 

4.00% 
4.16% 

$ 112,030 
12,742 

207 

$ 99,359 
6,854 

137 

3.74% 
4.78% 
4.07% 
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. . 

NOTE 8. INCOME TAXES 

The components of income tax expense for the years ended March 3 1 are as follows: 

Valuation allomcc 

Totalpvision for incom tax 

$ 1,978 $ 1,634 $ 4,200 

322 432 459 

The reconciliation of the expected federal incomc tax rate to the consolidated effective tax rate for fiscal years ended 
March 3 1 follows: 

Carver Federal’s stockholders’ equity includes approximately $2.8 million at each of March 31, 2005,2004 and 2003, which 
has been segregated for federal income tax purposes as a bad debt rcscrve. The use of this amount for purposes other than to absorb 
losses on loans may result in taxable income for federal income taxes a1 the thcn current tax rate. 

Tax effects of existing temporary diffcrcnces that give rise to signiticant portions of deferred lax assets and deterred tax 
liabilities at March 3 1 o f  the years indicated follow: 
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2005 2# 
(h thousands) 

IMiTred tax asscts 
h m  h i m  affiliate 
A l l o w a  for loan losses 
k f e d  loan fees 
Chqmsation and benefit plans 
Rcmves for losses cm other assets 
Non-accrual loan interest 
Invcs.tmmt securities iirpimmt 

Total d e f m  tax assets befm vduation allomcc 
Valuation allowme 
Total CICfLmed tax aqsets 

kferred tax liabilities 

$ 1,873 S 1,943 
1,393 1,414 

137 52 
384 100 
32 20 

274 242 
588 

4,681 3,77 1 

4,681 3,771 

Unrealixd (loss) gain cm availablefor-sale securities 144) 159 
lkpreciation 

Total &limed tax liabilitics 
428 393 
284 552 

Nct deferred tax as%% $ 4,397 $ 3,219 

A valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets at March 3 1, 2005 and 2004 was not established since it i s  niore likely 
than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient fiiture taxable income to realize the deferred tax asset. 

NOTE 9. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE 

The following table reconciles the earnings (loss) available to coinmon shareholders (numerator) and the weighted avcragc 
coiniiion stock outstanding (denominator) for both basic and diluted earnings per share for the periods presented: 

Year Ended March 31. 

Net income 
Preferred stock dividends 
Net iiicomc basic 
Impact of convcrsioriipotential conversion of convertible preferrcd stock 
to common stock 
Net incomc diluted 

2005 2004 2003 
(In thousands) 

$ 2,649 $ 4,839 $ 3,831 

2,535 4,642 3,634 
(1 14) (197) ( 197) 

114 197 197 
$ 2,649 $ 4,839 $ 3,831 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 2,382 2,284 2,29 1 
Effect of dilutivc securities convertible preferred stock and options 197 305 235 
Weighted avcragc common shares outstanding diluted 2,579 2,589 2,526 

NOTE 10. STOCKHOLDEHS’ EQUITY 

Conversion and S/ock Oifering. On October 24, 1994, the Bank issued in an initial public offering 2,314,375 shares of 
common stock (pat value $0.0 I )  at a price of $ 1  0 per share resulting in net proceeds of $21.5 million. As part of the initial public 
offering, the Bank established a liquidation account at the tirnc of conversion, in an amount equal to the surplus and reserves of the 
Bank at September 30, 1994. In the unlikely cvcnt o f a  complctc liquidation of the Bank (and only in such event), eligible depositors 
who continue to maintain accounts shall be entitled to receive a distribution from the liquidation account. The total amount of the 
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liquidation account may be dccrcased if‘ the balances of eligible deposits decreased Lis measured on the annual determination dates. 
The balance of the liquidation account was approximately $2.1 inillion (unaudited) at both March 31, 2005 and 2004, based on aii 
assumed decrease of 15.25% of eligible deposits per annum. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed thc Reorganization and 
became the wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. Pursuant to iiti Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated May 2 1, 
1996, each share of the Bank’s outstanding corninoii stock wiis exchanged for one share of the Holding Company’s comnion stock. hi 
connection with the Reorganization, a shareholder of the Bank exerciscd appraisal rights and 100 sliares of thc Bank’s coininon stock 
were purchased froin such shareholder in the fourth fiscal quarter or 1997. Accordingly, 2,3 14,275 shares or the Holding Conipany’s 
common stock were issued in exchangc for each outstanding share of Bank comnion stock. The Bank i s  not permitted to pay 
dividends to the Holding Company on its capital stock if the cffect thereof would cause its net worth to he reduced bclow either: (i) 
the amount required Tor thc liquidation account, or (ii) the amount required for the Rank to coinply with applicable minimum 
regtilatory capital requircments. 

ronwrtiblr PrCIJL‘rt cd Stork. On Januxy I 1 ,  2000, the Ilolding Company sold in a private placcment, pursumt to a 
Securities Purchase Agrcetnent, dated January 1 1 ,  2000, 40,000 dinres of Scries A Convcrtible Preferred Stock (the “Seties A 
Prefemcd Stock”) to Morgan Stanley & c‘o. lncorporated (“MSDW”) and 60,000 Shares o f  Series l3 Convertible Prefcmcd Stock (Ihe 
“Sene\ B Prcferred Stock“) to Provender Opportunrtrec Fund L.P. (“Proveii(1er”). In addition, C’iirver Federal entered into a 
Kcgistration Rights Agreement, dated January I 1 ,  2000, with MSnW and Provender. The gross proceeds from the private placement 
were $2.5 inillion On June I ,  2004, Provender sold all 60,000 of its Series l3 Prcferred Stock to Kccfe Bruyette & Woods, Inc 

‘lhe Series A PrerelTcd Stock and Series B Preferred Stock (collectively the “Preferred Stock“) accrued annual dividcnds at 
$1.97 per sharc. Dividends were paid semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year. Each share of Preferred Stock was 
convertible at the option of the holder, at  any time, into 2.08333 shares or Curvcr Federal’s Common Stock, subject to certain 
antidilution adjustments. The I-iolding Chipany had the option to redeem the Preferred Stock beginning January 15. 2004. In the 
event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Carver Federal, whether voluntiiry or involuntary, the holders o f  the sharcs of 
Prcfcrred Stock would be entitled to rcceive $251 per share of Preferred Stock plus all dividends accrued and iinpaid thereon. Each 
shasc of Preferred Stock would be eiititlcd to one vote for each share of Conirnoti Stock into which the Preremcd Stock wodd be 
converted. On September 15, 2004, the Holding Company issued a press release and mailed a Notice of Redemption and B 

related Letter of Transmittal to the holders of the Prcferred Stock, slating that it would redeem all 40,000 outstanding shares of 
its Series A Coiivcrtibk Preferred Stock and all 60,000 outstanding shares of its Scrics B Convertible Preferred Stock. The 
Prcfcrred Stock shares were to be rcdccmed on Octobcr 15, 2004 (“Redemption Date”) iit ~i redemption price of $26.97 pcr 
share plus $0.65 in accrucd and uiipaid dividends to, but excluding, the Redemption Date lbr an aggregate rcdotnption price of’ 
$27.62 per Prcfcrrcd Share. Dividcnds on the Prcferred Shares would have ceased to accrue 011 thc Redemption Date. On 
October 15, 2004 the holders of  all 40,000 outstanding sharcs of its Series A Corivertible Prcfcrred Stock and all 60,000 
outstanding shares of its Scries B Convertible Preferred Stock, elected, prior to the Redemption Date, pursuant to the 
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Preferred Shares, to convert their Prcferred Shares into shares of 
Carver’s coininon stock, par value $0.01 (thc “Common Stock”). Upon conversion of their Prefkrrcd Shares, the holders were 
issued an aggregate of 208,333 shares of Common Stock. 

Subsequent to the conversion of thc Preferred Stock, the Holding Company has a rccorded 2,524,691 shares of 
common stock issued. 

Rqykatory C’iipifd.  The operations and profitability of the Bank are significantly affected by legislation and thc policies o f  
the various regulatory agencies. Thc OTS has promulgated capital rcquirernents for financial institutions consisting of inininium 
tangible and core capital ratios of 1.5% and 3.0%. respectively, of the institution’s adjusted total assets and a minimuin risk-based 
capital ratio of 8.004 of thc institution’s risk weighted asscts. Although the minimum core capital ratio is 3.0%, thc Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation Improvement Act, as amcnded (“FDlClA”), stipulates that an institution with less than 4.0% corc capital is 
deemed undercapitalizcd. At March 3 1, 2005 and 2004, the Bank exceeded all of its regulatory capital requireincnts. 

The following is a suiimary ofthe Rank’s actual capital ainounts and ratios a s  of March 31, 2005 and 2004 comparcd to the 
OTS requirements for minimuin capital adequacy and for classification as a well-capitalized institution: 
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March 3 1 ~ 2005 
Tangible capital 
Levcrage capital 
Risk-based capital: 

Tier 1 
Total 

March 3 1,2004 
Tangible capital 
Leverage capital 
Risk-based capital: 

Tier 1 
Total 

57,684 

$ 57,684 
61,781 

Minimum Capital Classification as 
Bank Actual Adequacy Well Capitalized 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 57,684 9.2 % $ 9,404 1.5 % N/A N/A % 
9.2 25,078 4.0 3 1,348 5.0 

4.6 $ 15,877 4.0 $ 23,753 6.0 
5.6 3 1,670 8.0 39,587 10.0 

$ 57,191 10.6 % $ 8,082 1.5 % N/A N/A % 
57,191 10.6 21,553 4.0 26,941 5.0 

$ 57,191 16.5 $ 13,863 4.0 $ 20,794 6.0 
61,316 17.7 27,726 8.0 34,651 10.0 

The following table reconciles the Bank’s stockholdcrs’ equity at March 3 1, 2005, in accordance with accounting principlcs 
generally accepted in the U.S. to regulatory capital requirements: 

Regulatory Capital Requirements 
GAAP Tangible Leverage Risk-Based 
Capital Capital Capital Capital 

(In thousands) 

Stockholders’ Equity at March 3 1,2005 ( I )  $ 57,449 $ 57,449 $ 57,449 $ 57,449 

Add: 

Deduct: 

Regulatory Capital 
Miniinuni Capital rcquirernent 
Rcgulatory Capital Excess 

(1) Reflects Sank only. 

General valuation allowances 

Unrcalized loss on securities available-for-sale, net 

4,097 

235 235 235 
57,684 57,684 61,781 
9,404 25,078 3 1,670 

$ 48,280 $ 32,606 $ 30,ll I 

Comprehcnsivr Income. Comprehensive income represents net incomc and certain amounts reported directly in 
stockholders’ equity, such as the net unrealized gain or loss on securities available for sale. The Holding C‘onipany has reported its 
Comprehensive iiiconie for fiscal 2005 and 2004 in the Consolidated Stittemcnts of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and 
Comprehensive Income. Carver Federal’s other comprehensive income or loss (other than net income or loss) is attributable to 
unrealized gains and losses on securities which were at March 31, 2005 an unrealized loss o f  $235,000 and at March 31, 2004 an 
uiirealized gain of $258,000, Tiiclutled in thc amounts at March 31, 2005 and 2004 were uiirealized gains of $209,000 and $232,000, 
respectivcly, relating to available-for-sale securities that were transferred during fiscal 2003 lo hcld-to-maturity. This unrealized gain 
is an unrealized gain reported as a separate component of stockholders‘ equity and is amortized over the remaining lives of the 
sccurities as an adjustment to yield. 

NOTE 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS 

Pension Plun. Carver Fedcral has a non-contributory dcfincd benefit pension p lm covcring all eligible employees. The 
benetits are based on each employee’s term of servicc. Carver Federal’s policy is to fund the plan with contributions which equal the 
maximum amount deductiblc for federal income tax purposes. The plan was curtailed during the tkcal year ended March 3 I ,  2001. 
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The following table sets forth the plan’s changes in benefit obligation, changes in plan assets and funded status and amounts 
recognized in Carver Federal’s consolidated tinancial statements at March 3 1 : 

2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Change in projected benefit obligation during the year 
Projectcd benefit obligation at the bcginning of year 
Interest cost 
Actuarial loss 
Benefits paid 
Projccted benefit obligation at end of year 

Changc in fair value of plan assets during the year 

Fair valuc of plan assets at beginning of ycar 
Actual rctum on plan assets 
Benefits paid 
Fair value of plan asscts at end of year 

Fundcd status 
Unrecognized loss / (gain) 
Accrued pension cost 

$ 2,736 $ 2,752 
167 172 
136 43 

(254) (231) 
$ 2,785 $ 2,736 

$ 3,068 $ 2,907 
136 392 

(254) (231) 
$ 2,950 $ 3,068 

$ 165 $ 332 
203 (33) 

> I  

$ 368 $ 299 

Net periodic pension benefit included the following components for the years ended March 3 1 are: 

Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Amortization of 

Net periodic pension (benetjt) 
Unrccognixed (gain) 

200s 2004 2003 
(In thousands) 

$ 167 $ 172 $ 178 
(236) (223) (260) 

- - (19) 
$ (69) $ (51) $ (101) 

Significant actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits for thc ycars ended March 31 are: 

2005 2004 2003 
Annual salary incrcasc ( I ) N/A NIA NIA 
Expected Long-term return on  assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 
Discount ratc used in measurement of benefit obligations 6.38% 6.50% 6.50% 

( I )  The annual salary increase rale is not applicable as the plan is fro7cn 

Snvings fncenlivc Plun. Carver has a savings incentivc plan, pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Code, for all eligible 
eniployees of the Bank. Pursuant to the plan, C‘arver may make an annual non-elective contribution to the 401 (k) plan on behalf of 
each eligible employee up to 2% ofthe employee’s annual pay, subject to IRS limitations. This non-elective Carver contribution may 
be made regardless of whether or not the employee makes a contribution to the 401(k) plan. To be eligible for the nod-electivc 
Carver contribution, the employee must be 21 years of age, have completed at least onc year of service and be employed as of the last 
day of the plan ycar, December 3 1 .  Tn addition, Carver tnatches contributions to the plan equal to 100% of pre-tax contributions made 
by each employee up to a maximum of4% of their pay, subject to TRS limitations. All such inatching contributions to the plan will be 
kdly vcstcd and non-forfeitable at all times regardless of the ycars of service. However, the non-elective Chvcr contribution, if 
awarded, vests over a tive-year period. Total savings iiicentivc plan expenses Tor the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
were $1 74,000, $95,000 and $127,000, respcctivcly. 
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Directors’ Relirrment Plan. Concurrent with the convcrsion to the stock form of ownership, Carver Federal adopted a 
retirement plan for non-employee dircctors. The plan was curtailcd during the tiscal year cndcd March 3 I ,  2001. The bcnefits are 
payable bascd on the term of service as a dircctor. The following table scts forth the plan’s changcs in benefit obligation, changcs in 
plan assets and funded status and amounts recognized in Carver Federal’s consolidated financial statements at March 3 I : 

2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Change in projected bcncfit obligation during thc year 
Projected bencfit obligation at beginning of year 
Interest cost 
Actuarial (gain) 
Benefits paid 

Projected bcncfit obligation at end of year 

Change in fair value ofplan asscts during the year 
Fair value of plan assets at bcginning of year 
Eniployer contributions 
Benefits paid 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

Funded Status 
Unrecognized (gain) 
Accrued pension cost 

$ 169 $ 200 
9 12 
1 - 

(43) (43) 
$ 136 $ 169 

$ - $  
43 43 

(43) (43) 
$ $ 

$ (136) $ (169) 
(16) (17) 

$ (152) $ (186) 

- 

Net periodic pension cost for the years cnded March 3 1,2005,2004 and 2003 included the following: 

2005 2004 2003 
(Tn thousands) 

Interest cost 
Nct periodic pension cost 

s 9 $  12 $ 17 
$ 9 $  12 $ 17 

The actuarial assumptions used in dctcrmining plan benefits include a discount rate of 6.1%, 6.4% and 6.5% for thc ycars 
cndcd March 3 I ,  2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

BClLI The Rank owns one BOLT plan which was formed to offset future employee benefit costs and provide additional 
benefits due to its tax exempt naturc. Only officer level employees are covered under this program. 

An initial investmcnt of $X,O million wits made to the ROLI program on September 21, 2004. At March 31, 2005 the 
Consolidated Statement of Conditions retlects it nct cash surrender value of $8.2 million. The related income is retlected in thc 
Consolidated Statement of Opcrations as a coniponent of other non-interest incomo. 

Manugemi3nl Rclmgnifion PInrz (“MRP”). The MKP provides for automatic grants of rcstricted stock to certain cmployees as 
of the September 12, lY9S adoption of the MKP. On March 28, 2005 the plan was amended for all futurc awards. The MRP providcs 
for additional discretionary grants of restricted stock to those employees selccted by the committee established to administer the 
MRP. Awards granted prior to March 28, 2005, generally vest in three to five equal annual installments commencing on the first 
anniversary date of thc award, provided thc recipient is still an employcc of the Holding Chnipany or the Bank on such date. Under 
the amended plan awards granted after March 28, 2005 vest based on a fivc-year performance-acceleriitcd vesting schedule. Ten 
percent of the awarded shares vest in each of the first four yeai-s and the remainder in the fifth year. IJsing a performancc-accelerated 
vesting schedulc, with return on assets (“KOA”) as the performance measure, the vesting period can be accelerated in years three and 
four i f  t ie Bank mcets or exceeds the thrcc-year average KOA for its peer group. Awards will bcconie 100% vested upon termination 
of service duo to dcath or disabilily. Whcn shares become vestcd and are distributed, the rccipients will receive an amount equal to 
any accrued dividends with respect thereto. On Septeiiiber 23, 2003, the MRP was ainendcd to increase the number of shares 
availablc to I 19,43 1 Pursuant to the MRP, the Bank rccognized $1 58,00, $128,000 and $79,000 as expense for the years ended 
March 3 1,2005,2004 and 2003, respectivcly. 

EmpIoyw Stock Ownership Plun. Effectivc upon conversion, an ESOP was established for all cligible employees. The CSOP 
used $1 ,X2 I ,320 in proceeds from a term loan obtaincd from a third-party institution to purchase 1 82,132 shares of Bank coininon 
stock in tho initial public offering. Thc term loan principal was payable over Forty cqual quarterly installnients through September 
2004. Iiitcrcst 011 the term loan was payable quarterly, initially at a rate of 3.0% over thc average federal funds rittc. On May 20, 
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2002, the term loan was modified to provide for interest at a fixed rate of 4.OYn per annum. Each year until the loan paid off in June 
of 2004, the Bank made discretionary contributions to the ESOP, which were equal to principal and interest payments required on the 
term loan less any dividends received by the ESOP on unallocated shares. 

Shares purchased with the loan proceeds were initially pledged as collateral for the term loan. Currently, shares are 
purchased in the open market in accordance with Carver’s common stock repurchase program and are held in a suspense account for 
future allocation among the participants on the basis of compensation, as described by the Plan, in the year of allocation. 
Accordingly, the ESOP shares pledged as collateral arc rcported as unearned ESOP shares in the consolidated statements o f  financial 
condition. As shares are conmitted to be released from collateral, the Bank reports compensation expense equal to the current market 
price of the shares, and the shares becomc outstanding for net income per common share computations. ESOP coinpensation expense 
was $200,000, $0 and $172,000 for the years ended March 3 1 ,  2005, 2004 and 2003, rcspcctivcly. 

The ESOP shares at March 3 1 follow: 

Allocated sharcs 
Unreleased shares 
Unallocated shares 
Total l-;SOP shares 

(In thousands) 
78 I77 

5 

83 182 
5 

Fair value of unreleasedunallocated shares $ 95 $ 117 

Stock Oplion Plun. During 1995, the Holding Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) to advance the 
interests of the Bank through providing stock options to select key employees and directors o f  the Bank and its affiliates. The number 
o f  shares reserved for issuance under the plan is 338,Xh2. At March 31, 2005, there were 225,292 options outstanding and 151,846 
were exercisable. Options are granted at the fair market value of Carver Federal coinmon stock at the time of the grant for a pcriod 
not to exceed ten years. Under the Plan option grants generally vest on an annual basis ratably over either three or five years, 
commencing after one year of service and, in some instances, portions of option grants vest at the time of the grant. On March 28, 
2005, the plan was amended and vesting of future awards is based on a five-yeas performance-accelerated vesting schedule. Ten 
percent of the awarded options vest in each of the first four years and the remainder in the fifth year. Using a performance-accelerated 
vesting schedule, KOA as the performance measure, the vesting period can be accelerated in years three and four if the Bank mccts or 
exceeds the three-year average ROA for its peer group. All options are exercisable immediately upon a participant’s disability, death 
or a change in control, as detined in the Plan. 

Information regarding stock options as of and for the years ended March 3 1 follows: 

200s 2004 2003 
Weighted Weighted Weighted 

Oations 

Average 
Exercisc 

Price 
Outstanding, beginning of year 229,636 $ 11.25 
Granted 39,347 19.65 
Exerciscd (35,954) 12.75 
Forfeited (7,737) 14.38 
Outstanding, cnd of year 225,292 12.37 
Excrcisable at year end 1 5 1,846 
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Average Average 
Exercise Exercise 

192,176 $ 10.07 134,767 $ 9.10 
43,638 16.35 65,142 12.05 

(77) 12.06 (333) 9.93 
(6,101) 10.39 (7,400) 10.14 

229.636 I I .25 192.1 76 10.07 

Options Price Options Price 

108,925 106,020 



Information regarding stock options at March 3 1,2005 follows: 

I Thesc financial instruments primarily include commitments to extciid credit and to sell loans. Those instrumcnts involve, to 
varying degrees, elemcnts of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognizcd in the statements o f  financial condition. 
The contract amounts of those instruments reflect thc cxtent of involveinent the Bank has in particular classes of financial 
instruments. 

Range o f  
Exercise Prices 

$ 8.00 $ 8.99 
9.00 9.99 

10.00 10.99 
12.00 12.99 
13.00 13.99 
16.00 16.99 
19.00 19.99 
20.00 20.99 
21.00 21.99 

Total 

I 

The Bank has outstanding various commitments as follows: 

Options Outstanding 
Weighted Weighted 

Shares 
68,000 
38,560 

7,000 
43,076 

1,000 
29,128 
37,418 

729 

Average 
Remaining 

Life 
5 years 
6 ycars 
6 years 
7 years 
3 years 
8 years 
9 years 
10 years 

Average 
Exercise 

Price 
$ 8.24 

9.92 
10.53 
12.10 
13.81 
16.41 
19.64 
20.00 

381 9 ycars 21.76 
225,292 

Options Exercisable 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

68,000 $ 8.24 
38,560 9.92 

6,400 10.54 
12.09 28,182 

1,000 13.81 
9,704 16.41 

Shares Price 

15 1,846 

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Credit Related Commitments. The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal coursc 
of business to meet the financing nccds of its customers. 

Thc Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for 
commitmcnts to extend credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. The Bank uses the same credit 
policies making conimitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 

March 31, 
2005 2004 

(In thousands) 
Commitments to originate mortgage lwans $ 44,129 $ 71,114 
Commitments to originate commercial & consumer loans 515 2,844 

Total $ 46,552 $ 75,866 
Letters of Crcdit 1,908 1,908 

At March 3 1, 2005, of the $44.1 millioii in outstanding commitments to originate mortgage loans, $37.4 million represented 
construction loans at an average rate of 5.70%, $3.4 million represented commitmcnts to originate non-residential mortgage loans at 
rates within a range of 6.00% to 7.75Y0 and $3.3 million rcpresented the balance of onc-four and multi-family residential loans at rates 
between 5.88% to 6.75%. 

The balancc of commitments on busincss and consumer loans at March 31, 2005 is priinarily undisburscd funds fiom 
approved unsecured coinincrcial lines of credit. All such lines carry adjustable rates mainly tied to prime. At March 31, 2005, the 
Bank maintains one letter of credit in thc amount of $ I .9 niillion. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreemcnts to lend to a customer as long as there I S  no violation of any condition 
cstablished in the contract. Commitments generally have fixcd oxpiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment 
of a fee. Since some of the commitments are expected to expirc without being drawn upon, the total conmitment amounts do not 
ncccssarily represent future cash requircments. The Rank evaluatcs cach customer’s creditworthincss on a case-by-case basis. Thc 
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amount of collateral obtained if dccmed ncccssary by the Bank upon extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation 
of the counter-party. 

Leuse Commitments. Rentals, including rcal cstate taxes, under long-term operating leases for certain branch offices 
aggregated approximdtcly $479,000, $245,000, and $186,000 for the years ended March 31,2005,2004 and 2003, rcspcctively. AS of 
March 3 1, 2005, minimum rental commitments under all noncancellable leases with initial or remaining terms o f  more than one year 
and expiring through 20 18 follow: 

Year Ending Minimum 
March 31, Rental 

(In Thousands) 
2006 630 
2007 549 
2008 543 
2009 575 
2010 5 92 

Thereafter 1,411 
$ 4.300 

The Bank also has, in thc n o m 1  course of business, commitments for services and supplies. Management does not 
anticipate losses on any of these transactions. 

Legal Proceedings. From time to time, Carver Federal is a party to various legal proceedings incident to its business. 
Certain claims, suits, complaints and investigations involving Carver Federal, arising in the ordinary course of business, have been 
filcd or are pending. The Company is of the opinion, after discussion with legal counsel representing Carver Federal in these 
proceedings, that the aggregate liability or loss, if any, arising from the ultimate disposition of these matters would not have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. At March 31, 2005, except as set forth 
below, there were no material legal proceedings to which thc Company or its subsidiaries was a party or to which any of their 
property was subject. 

In January 2004, Michael Lee & Company (“Michael Lee”), former accountants for Hale House Center, Inc., filed an action 
against Carver Federal in New York County Supreme Court, asserting a single claim for contribution against Carver Federal. The 
complaint alleges that Carver Federal should be liable to Michael Lee in the event that Michael Lee is found liable to non-parties Hale 
House Center, Tnc. and its affiliated corporations (“Hale House plaintiffs”) in a separate action that the Hale House plaintiffs have 
filed against Michael Lee asserting claims of professional malpractice and breach of contract due to Michael Lee’s alleged provision 
of deficicnt accounting scrviccs to Hale House. The basis of Michael Lee‘s contribution claim against Carver Federal is that Carver 
Federal allegedly breached a legal duty it owed Hale House by improperly opening and maintaining a checking account on behalf of 
one of the Hale House affiliates. Michael Lee seeks contribution from Carver Federal in the amount of at lcast $8.5 million or the 
amount of any moncy judgment cntered against Michael Lec in favor of the Hale House plaintiffs. On February 4, 2004 Carver 
Fedcral filcd a motion to dismiss the complaint in its entirety and, on February 11, 2004, Michael Lee served a cross-motion for 
summary judgment against C!arver Federal. In May 2004, the court ruled in favor of Carver Federal and judgment was entered in 
Carver Federal’s favor on June 14, 2004, Michael Lee has appealed the judgment. Carver Federal opposed thc appeal as untimely 
but it was found to be timely filed. Michael Lee’s appeal is pending. Carver Federal intends to defend itself vigorously. In the 
opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the lawsuit is without merit and the ultimate outcome of this matter is 
not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, business operations or consolidated financial 
condition. 

NOTE 13. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale, Significant estimations were used by the Bank for the 
purpose of this disclosure. Estimated fair values have been determined by the Bank using the best available data and estimation 
methodology suitable for each category of tinancial instrument. For those loans and deposits with floating interest rates, it is 
presumed that estimated fair values generally approximate their recorded book balances. The cstimation methodologies used and the 
ostimated fair values and carrying values of the Bank’s financial instruments are set forth below: 

Cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable approximate fair value because they 
mature in three months or less. 
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Sccuri ties 

The fair values for securities available-for-sale, mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity and investment securities held- 
to-maturity are based 011 quoted market or dealer prices, if availablc. If quoted market or dealer prices are not available, fair value is 
estimated using quoted market or dealer prices for similar securities. 

Loans receivable 

The fair value of loans receivable is estimated by discounting future cash flows, using current rates at which similar loans 
would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities of such loans. 

Mortgage servicing rights 

The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is estimated by discount future cash flows, using current rates at which similar 
loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities of such loans. 

Deposits 

The fair value of demand, savings and club accounts is equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date. The 
fair value of certificates of deposit is cstimated using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remiiiiiiiig maturities. Thc: fair 
value estimates do not include the benefit that results from the low-cost funding provided by deposit liabilities compared to the cost of 
borrowing funds in the market. 

Borrowings 

The fair values of advances from the Federal Home Loan Rank of New York, securities sold under agreement to repurchase 
and other borrowed money are estimated using the rates currently available to thc Brlnk for debt with siniilar ternis and remaining 
maturities. 

Commitments 

The fair market value of unearned fees associated with financial instruments with off-balance shcct risk at March 3 I ,  2005 
approximates the fees received. The fair value is not considered material. 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments at March 3 1,2005 and 2004 follow: 

At March 31, 
2005 2004 

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated 
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value 

(In thousands) 
Financial Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investment securities available-for-sale 
Mortgage backed securities avai lable-for-sale 
Mortgagc backed securities hcld-to-rnaturity 
Loans receivable 
Accrued interest receivablc 
Mortgagc Scrvicing Rights 

Deposits 
Advances from FHLB of New York 
Other borrowed money 

Financial Liabilities: 

$ 20,420 
2235 1 
95,482 
3 1,302 

42 1,987 
2,702 

$ 453,454 
102,500 

12,799 

$ 20,420 
22,55 1 
95,482 
31,310 

424,886 
2,702 

$ 451,752 
101,651 

12,799 

$ 22,774 
21,553 
74,850 
43,474 

351,900 
2,489 

$ 373,665 
91,516 
12,766 

$ 22,774 
21,553 
74,850 
43,794 

362,684 
2,489 

$ 375,294 
94,469 
13,027 
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. .. .. . 

Limitations 

The fair value estimates arc made at a discrete point in time based on relevant market information about the financial 
instruments. These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offcring for sale at one time the cntire 
holdings of a particular financial instrument. Bccause no quoted market valuc cxists Tor a significant portion of the Bank’s financial 
instruments, fair valuc estiiiiatcs are based on judgments regarding futurc expected loss expericnce, currcnt economic conditions, risk 
characteristics of various financial instrumcnts, and other factors. Thesc cstimates are subjective in nalurc and involve uncertainties 
and matters of significant judgincnt and, thcrefore, cannot be dctermined with precision. Changcs in assumptions could significantly 
affect the estimates. 

In addition, the fair value estimates are based on existing off balance shect financial instruments without attempting to value 
anticipatcd future business and the valuc of assets and liabilities that arc not considered financial instruments. Othcr significant assets 
and liabilities that are not considercd financial assets and liabilitics include premises and equipmcnt and advances from borrowers for 
taxes and insurance. In addition, the tax ramifications related to the realization of unrealized gains and losses can have a significant 
effect on fair value estimates and have not been considered in any ofthe cstimates. 

Finally, reasonable comparability between financial institutions may not bc likely due to the wide rangc of permitted valuation 
techniques and numerous estimates which must be made given thc absence of activc secondary markets for many of the financial 
instrurncnts. This lack of uniform valuation methodologies introduces a greater degree of subjectivity to these estimated fair values. 

NOTE 14. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly financial data for fiscal years ended March 31,2005 and 2004: 

Three Months Ended 
June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
Fiscal 2005 
Interest income 
Interest expense 

Net interest income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-interest income 
Non-interest expensc 
Income tax expense 

Earnings per common share 
Net income 

Basic 
Diluted 

Fiscal 2004 
lnterest income 
Interest expense 

Net interest income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-interest income 
Non-interest expense 
lncome taxes (expense) benefit 

Net income (loss) 
Earnings (loss) per common share 

Basic 
Dilutcd 

$6,7 12 $7,013 $7,223 $7,597 
(2,168) (2,368) (2,485) (2,73 7) 
4,544 4,645 4,738 4,860 

1,139 1,198 1,203 90 1 

(663) (29 I)  (5 14) (190) 
(3,938) (5,069) (4,507) (5,179) 

$ I ,ox2 $483 $920 $392 

$0.45 $0.09 $0.37 $0.16 
$0.42 $0.09 $0.36 $0.15 

$ 6 5  16 $6,602 $6,483 $6,633 
(2,230) (2,109) (2,2 17) (2,144) 
4,286 4,493 4,266 4,489 

1,140 1,574 1,577 984 

(559) (751) (636) (547) 
(3,780) (3,890) (3,971) (3,83 6) 

$1,087 $1,426 $1,236 $1,090 

$0.45 $0.60 $0.52 $0.46 
$0.42 $0.55 $0.47 $0.42 
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NOTE 15. CARVER BANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
As of March 31, 

2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Assets 
Cash on deposit with the Bank 
Investment Securities 
lnvestrnent in the Subsidiaries 
Other Assets 
Total Assets 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 
Borrowings 
Accounts payable to Subsidiaries 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Stockholders’ equity 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

Income 
Equity in net income from Subsidiaries 
lntcrcst income from deposit with the Bank 
Other incornc 
Total income 

Expenses 
Interest Expense on Borrowings 
Salaries and employee benetits 
Legal expense 
Sharcholder expense 
Other 
Total expense 

lncome before incornc taxes 
Income tax expense 
Net Income 

$ 289 $ 93 
1,575 59 

57,85 1 57,846 
140 12 

$ 59,855 $ 58,010 

$ 13,202 $ 13,144 
667 22 
I85 199 

$ 14,054 $ 13,365 

45,801 44,645 
$ 59,855 $ 58,010 

2005 

$ 7,119 
7 

23 
7,149 

72 1 
225 

488 
1,548 
2,982 

4,167 
1,518 

$ 2,649 

2004 
(In thousands) 

$ 8,328 
9 
9 

8,346 

337 
169 

458 
SO 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 
2003 

$ 7,320 
6 

7,326 

52 
102 
248 

60 
1,014 

7,332 
2,493 

$ 4,839 

462 

6,864 
3,033 

$ 3,831 
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CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 

2005 2004 2003 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Net income 
Adjustnients to reconcile net loss to net cash 
provided by operating activities: 
Equity in net income of Subsidiaries 
lncome taxes from the B u k  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable to Bank 
(Decrease) increase in  other liabilities 
Other, net 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
Dividends Received from Bank 
Additional lnvestment in Bank & other subsidiaries 
Purchase of investment securities 
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
Issuance of Sub Debt 
Purchasc of treasury stock, net 
Dividends paid 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitics 
Net incrcase in cash 

Cash and cash equivalciits -beginning 
Cash and cash equivalents ~ ending 

(In thousands) 

$ 2.649 $ 4,X39 $ 3,831 

2,534 1,772 1,664 
213 928 13 

4,866 
(1 3,153) 

(3,074) (59) 
1,792 (13,212) 

(1 ,809) 12,290 (365) 
196 6 (352) 

93 87 43Y 
$ 289 $ 93 $ 87 

NOTE 16. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK BASED COMPENSATION 

In December 2004, thc FASB issued SFAS 123R “Accmiinting .fur Stock Bused rom~~enscrtion, Share Based Puyment ”, 
which replaces the guidance prescribed in SFAS 123. SFAS 123R requires that compensation cost relating to share based payment 
transactions be recognized in the financial statements. The associated costs will be measured based on the fair value of the equity or 
liability instruments issued. SFAS I23R covers B wide range of share-bascd compensation arrangements including share options, 
restrictcd share plans, performance-based awards, shitrc appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. SFAS 123R is 
efkctive as of the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005. Adoption of this pronouncement IS not 
expected to have it material impact on thc Company’s consolidatcd financial conditions or rcsults. 

ACCOUNTING AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT RELATED TO THE MEDICARE PRESCRIPTION DRZJG, 
IMPROVEMENT AND MODERNIZATION ACT OF 2003 

In January 2004, FASB issucd Staff position No. 106- I “Accozmting and Disclosure Rcquiremmts Related to M d i r  urt, 
Prc..\r.riptiari L h g  hiproventent und Modcwizntron Act of 2003” (“Medicare Act”) for annual financial statements of fiscal years 
ending after December 7, 2003. The Medicarc Act introduced both a Mcdicare prescription-drug benefit and federal subsidy to 
sponsors of retiree health-care plans that provide ii bciiefit at least “actuitlially cquivalent” to the Medicarc benefit. Carver Federal is 
not affected by the Medicare Act since it does not provide retiree health-care benefits. 

EMPLOYERS’ DISCLOSURES ABOUT PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFlT 

In December 2003. the FASB issued a reviscd SFAS No. 132, “Emplo,ver.s ’ Disclosures dwu t  Pensiotis and Other 
PoslrL>lirrrnmt Bmt;fits - cm amcnrlrntwt of FASB Stolcnzcnts Nos. 87, NX and 106” (SFAS No. 132(R)). SFAS No. 132 (K) requires 
additional disclosures to those in the original statement about the asscts, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit cost of 
defincd bciiefit pension plans and other defined postrctircment plans, SFAS No. 132 (R) also aniends Accounting Principles Board 
(“APR”) Opinion No. 2X, “Interim Finizncinl Reporting, ” to rcquire interim disclosure of the components o f  net periodic benefit cost 
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and, if significantly different from prcviously disclosed amounts, the amounts of contributions and projected contributions to fund 
pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans, SFAS No. 132 (K) is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending 
after December 15, 2003, except for disclosure of estimated future benefit payments, which is effective for fiscal years ending after 
June 15, 2004. As the provisions of SFAS No. 132 (R) are disclosure related, the adoption of SFAS No. 132 (K) had no impact on 
Carver Federal’s financial condition or results of operations. 

I CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE TNTEREST ENITTIES 

In December 2003, the FASB issucd Interpretation No. 46 (revised), “C’onsolidutron of Vurrahle htcrwt  Entities, an 
interprctution ofARB No. 51, ” (“FTN 46R’). Fin 46R addresses how a business enterprise should evaluate whether it has a controlling 
financial interest in an entity through means other than voting rights and, accordingly, should consolidate thc variable interest entity 
(“VIE”), FTN 46R replaces FlN46 that was issued in  January 2003. All public companies, such as Carver Fedcral, are required to 
fully implement FTN 46R no later than the end of the first reporting period ciiding after March 15, 2004. The adoption of FIN 46R 
rcsulted i n  the deconsolidation of the Trust, which did not have a material impact on Carver Federal’s financial condition or results of 
operations. 

I ACCOUNTING FOR CERTAIN LOANS OR DEBT SECUK1’1’1ES ACQUIRED IN A TRANSFER 

In December 2003, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issucd Statement of Position No. 03- 
3,“Arcmunting For Cwtain Loans Or Deb, SLJLuritiei Acquired I n  A Trunsj>r” (SOP No. 03-3). SOP No. 03-3 addresses accounting 
for differences between contractual cash flows and cash flows expected to be collected from an investor’s initial investment in loans 
or debt securities acquired in a transfer if those differences are attributable, ;it least in part, to credit quality. SOP No. 03-3 prohibits 
“carry over’’ or creation of valuation allowances in the initial accounting of all ~oans acquired in transfers within the scope of SOP No. 
03-3, which includes loans acquired in a business combination. SOP No. 03-3 is cffcctivc for loans acquired in iiscal yt‘ars beginning 
arter Deccmbcr 15, 2004. The adoption of SOP No. 03-3 is not expected to have an impact on Carver Federal’s fin,mcial condition or 
results of operations. 

~ 

ACCOUNTING FOR CERTAIN FINANC!IAL INSTRUMENTS WTTH CHARAC‘I‘EKLSTICS OF BOTH T,IABILITIES 
~ AND EQUITY 

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 150, “Accounting $3. C‘ertuin Finuncial Inslrumrnts with C‘haructeristics of 
Both Liubilitics and L;quity”(“SFAS No. 150”). Thc SFAS No. 150 requires issuers to classify as liabilities (or asscts in somc 
circumstances) three classes of freestanding financial instruments that embody obligations for the issucr. Cknerally, the statement is 
effective for hancial instrumcnts entered into or modified after May 3 I ,  2003 and is otherwise cffcctive at the beginning of the first 
interim period beginning after June IS, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
earnings or financial position. 

I AMENDMENT OF STATEMENT 133 ON DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES 

In April 2003, the FASR issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Stutement 133 on Dcrivrrtive Instruments and H~dgirzg 
Activities, ” which amcnds and clarifies financial accounting and reporting of derivative instruments, including certain derivative 
instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activitiec under SFAS No. 133, “Accnunting /hr Derivdive Iristruments unci 
Hdging  Ar*tivitiw. ” SFAS No. 149 is generally effective for contractc entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, and for hedging 
rclationships designated after Junc 30, 2003, and should generally be applied prospectively. Tho provisions of SFAS No. 149 that 
rclate to SFAS No. 133 Implementation Issues that have been cffcctive for fiscal quarters that began prior to June 15, 2003, should 
continue to he applied in accordance with their respective cffcctive dates. In addition, the provisions of SFAS No. 149 which relate to 
forward purchases or cales or when-issued securities or other securities that do not yet exist, should be applied to both existing 
contriicts and new contracts entered into after June 30,  2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have ii inaterial impact on 
Carver Federal’s financial condition or results o f  operations. 
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KPMG LLP 
757 Third Avenue 
New York, NY 10017 

LXTFRNAI C'OCINSLL 
Thacher Profftt & Wood 
Two World Financial Center 
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7 IKAN5I LR ACTFNI' 
American Stock Transfer serves as Transfer 
Agent and Registrar. Stockholders wishing to 
change thc name, address or ownership of 
stock, to report lost certificates or to 
consolidate accounts should contact: 

American Stock Transfer & Trust Co. 
59 Maiden Lane 
New York, NY 10038 
Stockholders Services: 1-800-937-5449 
(NY Stockholdcrs: 212-936-5 100) 

ANNM M F ~  I I N L  
The 2005 Annual Mecting of Stockholders 
will be held on  September 13, 2005 at l0:00 
a.m. at The Studio Museum in Harlem, 144 
West 125th Street, New York, NY 10027. 

A N N I ~ A I  KLPORT O N  FI-MM 10-K 
Thc Company has filed an annual 
report on Form IO-K for its fiscal 
year ended March 31,2005 with the 
SEC. Stockholders and other 
interested parties may obtain, free of 
charge, a copy of such annual rcport 
(excluding cxhibits) and additional 
information by writing to Evan 
Jalazo, Vice President and 
Controller, Carver Bancorp, Inc., 75 
West 125th Street, New York, NY 
10027, or telephoning (212) 876- 
4747, 

C'RFI)I I \ 

Thanks to: Patane Press, Inc 

Roy SWdn 
Senior Vice President, Corporute Secretary 
and Chief qf Star  
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